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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ZE-Bf —_T-nF ZE-N\F ZT—+tF ZT-RF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TERT FAET FHET FAT FAET
Results (for the year ended 30 June) %Z& (BEZAA=THLEE)
— Revenue &= 146,944 143,966 136,743 140,854 2,090,426
— Adjusted profit/(loss)* —®5A (BB (EHE) 3,897 1,793 (3,438) (1,822) 615,855
— Attributable profit/(loss) — A (&1E) 3,875 2,437 (1,643,888)  (1,756,580) (11,764)
— Dividends - & - - — — -
— Eamnings/(loss) per share - FRAEHN,/(EE)
(in HK cents) (LOBME) (ZB—REF
(2016 to 2017: Restated) E-T—£FGEY) 1.94 1.24 (833.16) (890.27)* (5.96)*
Financial Position (as at 30 June) BERR(RAA=1AH)
— Cash and cash equivalents* - ReRkReEH 95,472 83,365 71,626 76,101 74,377
— Total assets —BERE 186,243 162,438 158,529 1,801,716 3,561,067
— Equity” —fEz’ 52,821 67,458 70,914 1,677,197 3,433,797
Financial Ratios (as at 30 June) BHLER(MRAA=ZTAH)
— Current assets/Current liabilities —-RBEE/RBAE 1.91 1.92 2.15 27.75 53.30
— Assets/Equity® —EE/ R 3.53 2.41 2.24 1.07 1.04
— Sales/Assets —EEERE 0.79 0.89 0.86 0.08 0.59
* Excluding impairment * R ARE
+ Excluding overdrafts + TeFES

Adjusted pursuant to the share consolidation in April 2018
Attributable to owners of the Company
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

RZZE-TENA=+NE ASAT 29 SEPTEMBER 2020
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Hong Kong
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CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Kantone Holdings Limited
(the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) and
the management of the Group, | would like to present the 2020 annual report
of the Group.

The year 2020 has been extremely challenging. During the first half of 2020,
the outbreak of COVID-19 spread rapidly around the globe. The epidemic has
disrupted the order of people’s daily lives and has also caused a substantial
contraction of the global economy. We will take active measures to cope with
it, and strive to overcome difficulties and adversity!

During the year, our efforts were to create revenue, and multi-directional
expansion of business is our unswerving strategies to deal with this sudden
epidemic.

Multitone Electronics PLC (“Multitone UK”) has been playing a crucial role in
the pandemic battle through the prompt provision of healthcare mass
messaging solution and smart applications to the UK’s national healthcare
system (NHS). Widely adopted and trusted by emergency services, Multitone
UK'’s life-critical technologies have been perfected throughout its almost 90
years of service in the telecoms industry. From seamless integration with the
hospital’s paging system to the provision of solid data security, it would not
be an overstatement to state Multitone UK’s tailor-made solutions are saving
lives by the hour in these unparalleled times. During the Reporting Year,
Multitone UK has also supplied a selection of our critical communications
equipment on non-profit basis to 4 temporary hospitals set-up across the UK
to treat COVID-19 patients in Cardiff, Bristol, Manchester and Glasgow.

The Group is committed to operating as a responsible corporate and
continually supporting the economic and social vitality of local communities
through the delivery of innovative products and services. Multitone UK’s
pioneering products are bringing invaluable benefits to the healthcare, elderly
care, emergency services sectors around the world.

BRER
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CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT (Continued)

The beginning of 2020 had witnessed the outbreak of COVID-19. In the face
of the unprecedented challenge of pandemic, the global economy was hit
deeply. Technology industry had an unprecedentedly important role to play in
the response to the epidemic. Demand for various smart communication
solutions in the market arises at this historic moment, especially in medical
industry. In response to this epidemic, Multitone UK has risen to the challenge
and continued to stick to its duty to provide high-quality and reliable smart
communication solutions for British public medical institutions to ensure the
safety of medical staff. Amidst the tide of strikes in various countries, all of
Multitone UK’s business, including maintenance centres, continued to
operate normally to ensure that medical and various public services can
always receive our communication technology support during the epidemic,
and supplied communication and support equipment on non-profit basis to
temporary hospitals and clinics, as a means to contribute to alleviating the
epidemic. In addition, our automated solutions such as the transportation of
mechanical assets, the tracking of hospital beds and medical equipment had
also greatly improved the efficiency of the hospital’s resource utilization and
effectively reduced the risk of infection of frontline personnel, which played a
significant role in the epidemic.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere gratitude to our
customers, suppliers, business partners and the shareholders for their
continuous support during this difficult and struggling period, and give special
thanks to all employees of the Group for their devotion and progressive
achievements under the current challenging social and business environment.

Looking ahead, we can expect revival in the global socio-economic
development and restoration to normalcy in the coming year as the pandemic
subsides. We remain fully confident in the future prospect.

As always, we are committed to creating greater benefits and a better future
for our shareholders.

Ms. WONG Man Winny
Chairperson
Hong Kong

29 September 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS
Revenue

The Group reported a revenue for the year under review of approximately
HK$147 million, as compared with approximately HK$144 milion of the
previous year.

The Group recorded an increase in revenue of approximately HK$3 million.
During the year under review, the Group’s growth in the European market
within the healthcare, emergency services and smart city communication
sectors remained steady.

In order to maintain the products’ competitiveness, the Group has continued
to focus on optimizing its development resources to provide customers with
specific critical messaging solutions in the niche markets.

In addition, the Group’s management has been working with the technical
team in UK to develop a new business model for our potential customers in
mainland China and Hong Kong market by providing them with tailor-made
solutions.

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

Profit for the year was approximately HK$3.9 million, as compared with the
profit for the previous fiscal year of approximately HK$2.4 million, representing
an increase of approximately 62.5 percent. Eamings per share is HK$1.94
cents compared with earnings per share of HK$1.24 cents with the previous
year.

Distribution Costs

The Group’s distribution costs for the year were mainly attributed to our
principal subsidiary in UK — Multitone UK, which recorded distribution costs
for the year under review of approximately HK$27 million as compared with
approximately HK$29 million in 2019.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the year increased by approximately
7.4 percent to approximately HK$58 million from approximately HK$54 million
of previous year. For this year, even most items of the general and
administrative expenses remained at an acceptable level with some mitigation
of cost, the total amount was still increased. This was mainly owing to the
recognition of the cost of retirement benefit of approximately HK$9.3 million
(2019: approximately HK$1 million).

Impairment Loss

The Group recognised an impairment loss on inventories of approximately
HK$22,000 (2019: Nil) in the fiscal year 2020.

MBRE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RESULTS (continued)
Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year increased to approximately HK$808,000 from
approximately HK$249,000 as compared with the fiscal year 2019.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

2020 has been a most volatile year. The outbreak of COVID-19 has swept the
world by storm. Tourism and flight transportation industry were suddenly
brought to a standstill. The dining and retail industries have slowed to a
trickle. The stock market of the financial and traditional sectors plunged and
the surrender of deposits by buyers of newly developed properties resurfaced.
Global business environment was gravely challenging.

COVID-19 has forced people to keep social distance. Traditional business
sectors were suffering from the impact of the pandemic, although the degree
of impact varied across different sectors. However, the development of
information technology industry seems to have been scarcely affected. The
pandemic has provoked people to rethink deeper, it also compels
management of enterprises and social organizations to transform and look for
smart intelligent products, while being fully aware of the need for distancing.
The needs to reduce social contact are recognized by the society as a whole.
The business of the Group has always targeted for high-tech and smart
products. It is time for the Group to serve the society with its profession and
tailor-made loT smart products. There are ample business opportunities
ahead for the Group.

Technology Business — System Products

The progress of our plan to develop a new business model with our holding
company — Champion Technology Holdings Limited for our potential
customers in mainland China and Hong Kong market experienced some
delay due to the pandemic, and new system solution product for our target
customers, such as loT integration will be our development focus. For details,
please refer to the “OUTLOOK” section.

Solutions Provided to NHS Trusts UK

Multitone UK’s messaging app, working with our i-Message platform, meets
all of the NHS’s requirements for a communications tool to replace non-
critical paging, providing secure messaging, image sharing, voice and video
calls, a full staff directory and more, whilst complying with all the relevant data
protection and patient safety regulations.

8 KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020

MBEEE@
B 35 B A

£ B 75 AR AN 18 Hn = 49808,000 7T 0 T — =
— B BUAF [E Bl %) 5249,000/%8 T ©

E 3 JEI)-

“E_TFRAERL FERBEEBZK
R EEFARERE ER TEXEE—
BoBRTERREREFRRI S  BEH
MENBERBITNRRTER  REREBR

BRIEBAES -

REREMEBZ - AMPIBRIGHZER - AERE
ARENTERXINTRZENITE - B4
BERMEREMTENER - RIFBEE A
BE RENEECENHERBARTAR
BoOBRATIEEER BOAMEERRE
B EXRAtERE AEEXK —BETH
BRAMALIEEER FHFAREENZEER
BrHe REPESIIMIAEEDBHAS
ZEOSHERHE

MEREBE-E2EATR

HMEZRAR-EEMREEBERAAAG
tF SERBEREBEN  EFERBMEE
MERBEBBNNEF ARABERST
REFEMBATE REHMITSHEA
BREFREFNEZEMTEE R (B0 yE
WER) FRAKRNEREHN - BHEFE
ELRIRE]—H -

AREBERBRERBAAGTHER
MR F R

Multitone UK Y 38 51L& 3 12 =X 82 3 M /Y i- 51LE F
ERE WMEERBERBASAHAMIA
RMBZEXR  UERFESUENET  ZH#%
EMEEMHE  BRAEZ BEMRERE -
ETEMETEHES RABFAMEHEENE
RHREFBALZEER -



Z

%EEDTHH:H&/ 7|-)-|/_</~E>

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)
Technology Business — System Products (continued)

Solutions Provided to NHS Trusts UK (Continued)

However, thanks to its integration with Multitone UK i-Message, which is
available as an on-site hardware and a cloud offering, we'’re able to offer
much more than just a clinical communications tool. i-Message can integrate
the existing, and ongoing, use of critical paging with the new digital
communications platform, ensuring there is a single system for
communications throughout the entire hospital. This prevents the Trusts from
having siloed communications tools and reduces complexity in clinical
workflows.

Better yet, with Multitone UK i-Message, Trusts have the option to adopt a
host of additional apps and systems, either from the get-go or at a later date.
As well as our clinical messaging app, we can offer a sophisticated asset
tracking and management system, personal staff safety alarms, building
system integration and management,
communications, mass communications, digital paging for task allocation and

specialist major incident

more.

Many NHS Trusts throughout the United Kingdom already have Multitone UK
i-Message systems, which means all they need to do is to contact us to
modify their existing setup and add our messaging app, and any other tools
they decide to adopt, into their commmunications mix whilst retiring their non-
critical paging. This also makes adoption of the new tools much easier, as
Trusts already have a working relationship with Multitone UK as well as staff
trained on the use of i-Message. For NHS Trusts working with us for the first
time, however, the process couldn’t be easier, with our UK-based engineers
and IT specialists on hand to guide them through the adoption process.

Knowing which pieces of equipment have been associated with a patient is a
key part of infection control. Multitone UK’s asset tracking & management
system ensures that equipment can be easily traceable & cleaned promptly
once no longer in use.

Applicable across many industries, our asset tracking and management
system, based on RFID or Bluetooth Low Energy tags, can make your client’s
workplace more efficient,
management of hundreds or thousands of movable items.

saving time and money by digitising the
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)
Technology Business — System Products (continued)

Solutions Provided to NHS Trusts UK (Continued)

Safer staff are happier, more confident staff. Our personal alarm system lets
workers call for help to their location at the press of a button from anywhere
in the premises including those areas with weak signal reception capabilities
such as basements, should they feel threatened, unwell or suffer an accident.

COVID-19 has disrupted human communications and traditional supply
chains, which in turn has evolved into an economic crisis. However, the
presence of Internet of Things (“loT”), through smart machines and remote
control, has helped operators reduce or eliminate the need for direct contact
with customers while continuing with social and economic activities. We are
confident that the Group will efficiently harness technology to overcome all
challenges! The Group is committed to the promotion of loT, which is the
best anti-pandemic means for corporates to revolutionize their business with
smart elements, in order to get out of the shadow of COVID-19 and to lead
the field as it revives.

Solutions for Fire Services

We are proud to work with the Herfordshire Fire & Rescue Service! Multitone
UK’s waterproof alerters are designed especially for use by fire services. They
have rugged, waterproof and have high signal sensitivity.

Solutions for Factory Staff Security

Multitone UK patented personal security system EkoTek®, with the installation
of radio cells created the necessary staff protection for our customers. This
was further enhanced by linking several properties through a series of LAN
repeaters, which were networked into the factory’s own LAN.

Staff now have access to belt or pocket worn user-friendly mobile emergency
alarm devices, plus strategically placed fixed emergency call points. Within
seconds of an alarm, the position of the guards is transferred to colleagues
with other EkoTek mobile devices, plus a central office or even escalated to
external services.

10 KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)
Factory Staff Security (Continued)

The result is a solution that ensures the security and delivery of time-critical
emergency messages to the factory’s staff and security guards. Assistance
can now be initiated immediately with responders directed to alarm location.

Cultural Products

Cultural products, including precious stones and artifacts, valued at
HK$4,014,000 (as at 30 June 2019: HK$4,187,000) which have been held
for trading and resale in the ordinary course of business are included in the
inventories of the Group as at 30 June 2020.

All such cultural products, totalling 143 pieces, have been kept in a secured
warehouse run by a world-renowned security solution company, which is an
independent third party to the Group.

OUTLOOK

No one could have gazed into a crystal ball and forecasted the pandemic and
recession this year. In spite of this, the management of the Group remains
prudent in financial management and will keep monitoring the external
economic environment. Although the business environment is unprecedently
challenging, the Group will persevere with its operation amidst adversity.

COVID-19 and lockdown made workplaces more flexible, and homeworking
is likely to remain more common once the pandemic has passed. For this to
be successful, businesses must provide effective, unified comms for their
whole workforce. Our messaging app is a powerful tool for 1-1 and group
messaging, voice and video calling, but it also integrates with customers’
other communication channels, forming a single contact point for everyone in
customers’ business.

The Group is technology based and will continue to play an active part in the
fight against pandemic.
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EENERE LSRG

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

OUTLOOK (Continued)
Technology Business — System Products

The European Market

Multitone Germany launched its patented personal security system EkoTek®,
with the installation of several hundreds of radio cells to create the necessary
staff protection for its customers. This was further enhanced by linking several
properties through a series of LAN repeaters, which were networked into the
customers’ own LAN. Staff now have access to belt or pocket worn user-
friendly mobile emergency alarm devices, plus strategically placed fixed
emergency call points. Within seconds of an alarm, the position of the guards
can be transferred to other colleagues, the central office or even escalated to
external services.

The Hong Kong Market

Expansion of the markets and customer base for our Multitone UK into
Mainland China was temporarily delayed somewhat by the pandemic. Taking
advantage of the latest release of the Artificial Intelligence Video Analytics,
Multitone UK would integrate it in our Mall Call Smart Alert System in UK and
also in Hong Kong. A smart city is one which applies different innovation and
technology in the systems and services of urban management to enhance
resource efficiency, urban management and services and the betterment of
citizen’s quality of life. The furtherance of smart city has always been a top
priority in modern cities’ governments’ agenda. The business in smart city
application is a relatively stable and reliable source of revenue.

The Covid-19 has not yet been under control. The Group will continue to use
stable, long-lasting, and far-reaching smart communication technology to
assist customers and the public to tide over this crisis.

NHS is phasing out non critical paging by the end of 2021

As part of the NHSX Clinical Communications Procurement Framework,

Multitone UK will be able to offer NHS Trusts (“Trusts”) our innovative, hi-tech
communications solutions as a replacement for their non critical paging.
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OUTLOOK (Continued)
Technology Business — System Products (continued)

NHS is phasing out non critical paging by the end of 2021
(Continued)

The government has set a target for NHS Trusts nationwide to cease the use
of non-critical paging by the end of 2021. The objective is to streamline and
improve clinical communications amongst NHS staff by switching to digital
alternatives. With Multitone UK’s messaging app, clinicians will be able to look
up the colleague they need by name or specialism via a centralised database,
and then speak with them by voice or video call, or real-time messaging over
WiFi or cellular data. They will be able to easily exchange patient notes,
photographs and video, and communicate one-to-one or in groups and
teams, all with the knowledge that all their communications are fully secure
and compliant with privacy laws. This represents a great improvement over
some existing NHS practises which can involve using multiple devices and
communication systems.

Paging still the best technology for critical messaging

Pagers, also known as “bleepers” in the NHS, will continue to be used by
crash teams and other personnel for emergency messages. When a patient’s
condition suddenly becomes critical, the relevant staff must respond as
quickly as possible. Should the message summoning staff to the patient fail
or be delayed, this could be fatal.

Paging, based on a local radio transmitter, provides highly-reliable message
transmission, independent of the internet or cellular networks, which can
penetrate concrete and easily provides full coverage within the hospital’s
grounds. Pagers are loud and impossible to ignore, and give a clear
instruction to users by voice and text, telling them where they need to go.
Pagers are relatively small and can be clipped to a belt or pocket so they’'re
easily accessible, are resistant to falls and liquids, and have much longer
battery lives than smartphones.

For these circumstances, other technologies simply can’t provide the same
robustness or reliability. Cellular networks can struggle to reach inside some
parts of buildings, and are vulnerable to high-traffic or technical problems.
WiFi networks can also fail, as can the external internet connection.
Smartphones themselves are complex, relatively fragile, have short battery
lives, and are prone to software or hardware errors (though ruggedised
handsets are available). When it comes to critical messaging, like that
required when a patient goes into cardiac arrest, a loss of service is simply
not an option.
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EENERE LSRG

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

OUTLOOK (Continued)
Technology Business — System Products (continued)

Paging still the best technology for critical messaging
(Continued)

Finally, calling pagers “archaic” is a misnomer. Whilst pagers are largely
based on proven technology which has existed for some time, some modern
pagers allow for two-way messaging and can operate on 4G networks. The
design of pagers and technology within them has improved consistently over
time, and as NHS bleepers are designed for a healthcare environment, they’re
easy to clean, able to withstand moisture and dust, are robust and are easy
to operate whilst wearing PPE.

By choosing Multitone UK as part of the Clinical Communications
Procurement Framework, NHS Trusts will have a single supplier for both their
critical paging needs and their clinical communications tools, integrated into a
single system for maximum operational effectiveness.

Multitone UK’s smart app helps to improve critica
communications during the Coronavirus crisis

Healthcare and medical services in the UK and across the world are facing
unprecedented challenges as hospitals deal with the Coronavirus (Covid-19)
pandemic. The ability to communicate immediately has become fraught with
difficulty just as it assumes even greater importance.

We are able to support the UK’s national healthcare system through this crisis
by quickly supplying hospitals and NHS Trusts with our healthcare mass
messaging solution and smart applications. Our life-critical technologies have
been perfected with about 90 years of service in the telecoms industry and
are widely adopted and trusted by emergency services.

Multitone UK’s messenger application and mass messaging solution offers
numerous benefits and communication features:

The app can effectively trigger team cardiac calls remotely and empower
teams to work away from the hospital as well as page users on site, therefore,
minimising the impact on a hospital’s switchboard.

With busy shifts and changing personnel, our app enables staff to
communicate directly with someone in a particular position (e.g. Head of
Radiology) without knowing their name.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

OUTLOOK (Continued)
Technology Business — System Products (continued)

Multitone UK’s smart app helps to improve critical
communications during the Coronavirus crisis (Continued)

The app seamlessly transitions automatically between Wi-Fi and mobile
networks as you move, providing continuity of connection.

We tailor our systems to meet specific requirements. Multitone UK’s smart
app is a wide area secure messaging platform that integrates with a hospital
paging system, including critical paging. Furthermore, we understand the
crucial importance of data privacy and security, particularly relating to
patients, so all our systems are encrypted, and staff contact details can be
concealed. To ensure critical messages always reach their intended
recipients, the app has a priority override function which ignores “silent” & “do
not disturb” settings.

Iconic projects development

The original Canary Wharf project was for the supply of a Multitone i-Message
clustered solution, comprising of servers, Multitone UK MallCall units and
Multitone UK Security Watches.

We have been supplying additional MallCall units since the original
deployment in 2017, as the system has continued to expand.

The Canary Wharf Management team will be extending the system into the
current development of Wood Wharf, which will see many additional MallCall
units deployed.

Another icon project is the work we have conducted at Kings Cross Estate
which covers approximately 64 acre estate, 22 buildings integrating BMS,
access control and fire alarms systems, delivering these alerts to a single on-
site security hub.

Following this first project, King’s Cross Estate Services, its world renowned
property management company, extended this system to add MallCall for
Coal Drops Yard, a newly developed gorgeous shopping mall on the estate.

Transformation in the midst of stability is the doctrine of the Group. Our
advanced loT technology, professional and diligent team and responsiveness
in decision making are the best assets of the Group. To accommodate the
Group and its customers with enhanced retumns in the long run, the Group
will continue to commit to innovation in order to cater for the social needs. At
the same time, it will keep creating a variety of business opportunities and
promoting technology development to contribute to the prosperity of the
industry.
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EENERE LSRG

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

OUTLOO K (Continued)
Cultural Industry

The trading of cultural products used to be another business of the Group. In
August this year, the Group purchased 3 pure gold ornaments at the price of
approximately HK$3,130,000. Given the recent fluctuation and downward
trend in US dollars, foreign experts believe that China and Russia may reduce
its US dollars reserve and increase its gold reserve. At the date of purchase,
the price of gold has reached over US$2,000 per ounce and it is a signal that
the price of gold is getting bullish despite the latest technical correction. At
present, the holding of gold ornaments provides a good hedge in value when
gold demand is on the upward trend. Art lovers of pure gold ornaments are
target customers of the Group. The three gold ornaments purchased by the
group are aesthetically beautiful, and the purchases are at the right prices
with good appreciation potential.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Financial Position and Gearing

The Group’s financial position remained positive.

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had approximately HK$95 million (2019:
approximately HK$83 million) liquid assets made up of deposits, bank
balances and cash. Current assets were approximately HK$154 million (2019:
approximately HK$134 million) and current liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$81 million (2019: approximately HK$70 million). With net
current assets of approximately HK$74 million (2019: approximately HK$64
million), the Group maintained a healthy level of financial liquidity. As at 30
June 2020, the Group had no borrowings (2019: no borrowings) and a zero
gearing ratio (2019: zero gearing ratio of the Group, defined as the Group’s
total borrowings to equity attributable to owners of the Company, was zero).

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had no borrowings (2019: no borrowings).
Finance costs for the year was approximately HK$808,000 (2019:
approximately HK$249,000).

16 KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020

B 2 )
XL E#

XEEREAREEARS RAFNA X
SERET-ERSRMH BAERENS
BB t=BZrx BROHREXTEBA
BEERZBE HIBEEXRRPEMME
HERFETL ENELRECBYE  BER
TERMUERE AEEBAZ =BT R
HEA ZBeERERBELL_TEXT &
BrIESHBREBEERZIABE  HAE
ERERSRE BRENER - R2EMWH
EE wEAKBENEEEF BRBEDN
“EReRHEREE BET RARNK
THEEN -

BERBERMBER
MBERRAREE
REEP AR EE -

RZE-_ZEEXNA=1+RH AEEBRERE
FOROTEBRERBRA S IRDESLBEAY
95,000,000/% 7T (= Z — /L4 : 83,000,000
JT) ° i &) & E B #9154,000,000% T (= F —
JLEE  49134,000,0008 ) MnshaE A A
#781,000,0007% JT. (= Z — L. 4F : 770,000,000
BIL) c AREERBRUMB R REE
EF{E A 474,000,000 T(ZZT— LF: 4
64,000,000 1) c R ZE-_ZTFA=+H "
AEFBHEEE(CZE-NF: E8E8) A8
FEBILRAT(ZE—AF: RAEEES
BERARNABEARGERZTE A5E
CEFEZLENART) -

R-TE-TFNA=Z+H AEEHERLE
(ZE—NF:EEB AFEZHBEXLA
#9808,000/% 7T (— & — SL4F : £9249,000/ 7T) °



B8 E

Dk
MANAGEMENT D

Z

==
(===
mﬁ)

il
IS

(
CUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES B 4784 R UKL R @

(Continued)

Fund Raising Activities

EEED

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group completed a fund-raising HZE T -_ETESNA=ZTHIEE &£
exercise to strengthen its financial position and raised total gross proceeds of Sk —IEFL & F& i LAMNSR BT FE AR 0 - &5 FT
approximately HK$6.3 million, with the net proceeds therefrom having been 3 2k I8 48 %8 #96,300,000 % 7T« H BT 18 2 1H %

applied as follows:

A Rm T

Date of Intended use of
announcement Fund raising activity Net proceeds raised proceeds Actual use of proceeds
FEK2RE
=R KEEH REFE FERERERR FEREBRAR
6 May 2020 Placing of new Approximately General working capital HK$2.0 million was utilized for repayment of a loan owing to a Director
—ETF Ordinary shares HK$5.9 million purpose and approximately HK$300,000 was utilized for administrative
A ARHAH under general #75,900,0007%8 7T —REBEELHR expenses and operation expenses; and the remaining amount of
mandate approximately HK$3.6 million will be utilized for general working
BE—RRERES capital purpose.
g A 2,000,000 T2 BN ER -2 & RE SR 2 B A K #300,000/8

TEARMTHEAS REERY 543,600,000/ T AR —
REBESLHE -

Set out below is a further breakdown of the use of approximately
HK$300,000 as administrative expenses and operation expenses:
T &R #541300,0008 TITHHAX REERT 2 ABEHN

Use of proceeds Amount

FERERE &8
(HK$’000)
(F&TL)

Directors’ remuneration 140

E2We

Legal and professional fees 139

FEEREXEER

General expenses 21

— M EERX

Total: 300

@it :
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I\/IANAGEI\/IENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)
Treasury Policy

The Group is committed to manage its financial resources prudently and to
maintain a positive liquid financial position with reasonable gearing. The
Group finances its operation and business development by a combination of
internally generated resources, capital market instruments and banking
facilities.

As there was no borrowing during the year under review, there was no
currency risk exposure associated with the Group’s borrowings.

The Group does not engage in any speculative derivatives or structured
product transactions, interest rate or foreign exchange speculative activities.
It is the Group’s policy to manage foreign exchange risk through matching
foreign exchange income with expense and, where significant exposure to
foreign exchange is anticipated, appropriate hedging instruments may be
used.

Capital Commitments

The Group did not have any capital commitments as at 30 June 2020 (2019:
Nil).

Charges

Certain property, plant and equipment of the Group with the aggregate
carrying amounts of approximately HK$9.8 million have been pledged as
collaterals for the defined benefit retirement scheme of certain subsidiaries
operated in UK.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any charges on assets as
at 30 June 2020.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (2019:
Nil).

Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions
and Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint
Ventures, and Future Plans for Material Investments
or Capital Assets

There were no significant investments held, no material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year ended
30 June 2020.

There is no plan for other material investments or additions of capital assets
as at the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

R-ZE-TENA=-+NE ASAT 29 SEPTEMBER 2020

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. WONG Man Winny, aged 46, has been an executive Director and the
Chairperson of the Board since October 2017. She is currently an executive
director and the Chairperson of the board of directors of Champion, which is
the holding company of the Company holding 59.04% of the issued shares of
the Company as at the date of this report and the issued shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”); and a director of Multitone UK. Ms. Wong served as the
licensed representative of Business Securities Limited from 2003 to 2004.
She has over 10 years of experience in corporate management and
investment.

Mr. LIU Ka Lim, aged 64, has been an executive Director and an authorised
representative of the Company since October 2016. He has over 30 years of
professional experience in the field of finance and accounting. He is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He is also a member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute.
Mr. Liu is currently an executive director of Champion, which is the holding
company of the Company holding 59.04% of the issued shares of the
Company and the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. He is also a director of several subsidiaries of the Group.
From March 2004 to August 2006, Mr. Liu was the chairperson of Galileo
Capital Group Limited (now known as Sun International Group Limited), a
company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. From October 2003 to
March 2006, Mr. Liu was the chairperson of Wonderful World Holdings
Limited (now known as Good Resources Holdings Limited), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From January 2011 to June 2013,
Mr. Liu was a non-executive director of United Pacific Industries Limited (now
known as Superactive Group Company Limited), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica, aged 40, has been a non-executive Director
since July 2017. Ms. To is currently a Barrister-at-Law. Ms. To holds a
postgraduate certificate in laws from University of Hong Kong and a graduate
diploma in English and Hong Kong law from Manchester Metropolitan
University. Ms. To was admitted as a barrister of the High Court of HKSAR in
2009. Ms. To has about 10 years of experience in the legal field. Ms. To is
currently a non-executive director of Champion, which is the holding company
of the Company holding 59.04% of the issued shares of the Company and
the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange; and a director of Multitone UK.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (Continued)

RZZE-TENA=+NE ASAT 29 SEPTEMBER 2020

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai, aged 56, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since October 2017. Mr. Leung has extensive
experience in accounting and finance. Mr. Leung received a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr.
Leung is currently an independent non-executive director of Champion, which
is the holding company of the Company holding 59.04% of the issued shares
of the Company and the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Leung served as a financial controller and
company secretary of a private company during 2003 to 2006. From 1996 to
20083, he served various roles including financial controller, company secretary
and finance manager in several listed companies within the ITC Corporation
Limited (now known as PT International Development Corporation Limited)
(stock code: 372), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. He also worked as a senior accountant during 1992 to
1996 in Hopewell Holdings Limited, which was de-listed from the Stock
Exchange on 3 May 2019. Mr. Leung had also been an independent non-
executive director of China Aluminum Cans Holdings Limited (stock code:
6898), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, during the period from June 2013 to June 2016. Currently, Mr.
Leung is the chief financial officer and company secretary of Da Ming
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1090), the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada, aged 48, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since July 2017. Ms. Chung has
extensive experience in auditing and accounting. Ms. Chung held various
senior positions in professional firms and commercial field, including
accounting manager of a listed company in Hong Kong. Ms. Chung holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree from York University and a diploma in accounting
from The School of Professional and Continuing Education of The University
of Hong Kong. Ms. Chung is a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of British Columbia, Canada.

Mr. Clayton IP, aged 42, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company since June 2017. Mr. Ip is a business
entrepreneur and has over 10 years of experience in corporate administration,
management and investment. Mr. Ip is specialised in the printing and mini-
storages industries.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (Continued)

R-ZE-TENA=-+NE ASAT 29 SEPTEMBER 2020

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Wai, aged 51, has been the company secretary of the Company
since October 2016, and he is also the chief financial officer and an
authorised representative of the Company. Mr. Chan has 28 vyears of
experience in accounting and financial management. Mr. Chan holds a
master degree in Professional Accounting awarded by The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, an associate of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.
Mr. Chan is currently the chief financial officer, company secretary and an
authorised representative of Champion, which is the holding company of the
Company holding 59.04% of the issued shares of the Company and the
issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ed Paterson, aged 48, is the Chief Executive Officer of Multitone UK. As
CEO, he is responsible for managing the overall operations and resources of
the group. He is also a director of several of the Group’s subsidiaries. He has
a strong IT and technical background, is a graduate of Computer Science
and a member of the Institute of Directors. He is prioritising the development
of new technologies and solutions into the Multitone UK product portfolio to
allow the group to realise the potential of opportunities in new marketplaces.
He joined the group in 2000 in an IT role and has held positions within the IT
and Operations Management and more recently as Operations Director
before becoming CEO on 1st January 2020.

Mr. Frank ROTTHOFF, aged 57, is the managing director of the German
operations and head of international market. He was also a director of
Multitone UK. He joined the Group in 2008 and has extensive experience in
sales and marketing management in the electronics industry. His earlier
career covered international sales of industrial machinery and process
technology before entering the semiconductor sector in 1989. He was
responsible for the sales and marketing of a leading European distributor of
electronic components before joining the Group.

Mr. Terry John MILLER, aged 81, has been a consultant of the Group since
March 2017 and a director of Multitone UK. Previously, he held the position of
deputy chief executive at Hong Kong Telecommunications Limited, and was
the regional director, Asia/Pacific, of Cable & Wireless PLC. He is a fellow of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and is the
former president of the Hong Kong Institute of the International Association of
Financial Executives. He was an independent non-executive director of
Champion, which is the holding Company of the Company holding 59.04% of
the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange
from May 1992 to March 2017.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors would like to present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in sale of systems products, software licensing and customisation,
leasing of systems products and trading of cultural products.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business, an indication of its likely future development
and an analysis as well as particulars of important events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the year ended 30 June 2020 are
discussed in the “Chairperson’s Statement” and “Management Discuss and
Analysis”, sections from pages 5 to 18. On the other hand, a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group is set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 34 to 56. The above discussions
form part of this report.

In addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group puts great emphasis in environmental protection and energy
conservation to enhance the capacity of sustainable development and
undertake relative social responsibility. Through the establishment of an ever-
improving management system, energy conservation and environmental
protection were strongly promoted, leading to the remarkable achievement of
environmental management.

Pursuant to Rule 13.91 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”),
Environmental, Social and Governance (“‘ESG”) Report no later than five
months after the end of the financial year in compliance with the provision set
out in the ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules.

the Company will publish an
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations, in particular, those of which may have a significant
impact on the Group. Save as otherwise disclosed and as far as the Board
and management are aware, the Group has complied with all related laws
and regulations in all material aspects which may have significant impact on
the business and operation of the Group during the year under review.

RELATIONSHIP OF STAKEHOLDERS

The Company believes that employees, customers and business partners are
the key to maintain continuous sustainable development. The Company is
committed to be people-oriented and build up good relationship with its
employees. The Group provides on-the-job training and development
opportunities to enhance its employees’ career progression. Through different
trainings, staff’s professional knowledge in corporate operations, occupational
and management skills are enhanced. The Group also values the health and
well-being of its staff. In order to provide employees with health coverage, its
employees are entitled to medical insurance benefits. The Group also works
together with its business partners to provide high quality products and
services to achieve the goal of sustainable development and contribution to
the society.

There was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
distributors and/or customers during the year under review.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2020 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
page 64 and in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Directors do not recommend any payment of final dividend for the year
ended 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil). Capital will be reserved for the expansion of
the Group’s business and to capture investment opportunities arising in the
future. There is no arrangement that shareholder has waived or agreed to
waive any dividend.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board established a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in December
2018, pursuant to which the Company may declare and distribute dividends
to the shareholders.

In considering the payment of dividends, the Board shall take into account,
among other things, the actual and expected financial performance of the
Group, retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each
of the members of the Group, cash flow, working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans of the Group, the
liquidity position of the Group, general economic conditions, business cycle of
the Group’s business, future prospects and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company and any other relevant factors that the Board may
consider relevant.

The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to compliance with
applicable laws and regulations including the laws of the Cayman Islands and
the Company’s Articles of Association (the “Articles of Association”). The
Board will continually review the Dividend Policy from time to time and there
can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year
under review are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 67 and note 29 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY

Details of the distributable reserves of the Company as at 30 June 2020 are
set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on pages 163 to 164.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Company did not make any charitable donation for the two years ended
30 June 2019 and 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the year are set out in notes 15 to 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson)
Mr. LIU Ka Lim

Non-executive Director

Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai
Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada
Mr. Clayton IP

In accordance with article 87(1) of the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors for the time being, (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation so that each Director shall be subject to retirement at least once
every three years.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation) as at the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO RULE
13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, there is no other change in
the Directors’ information required to be disclosed during the year under
review.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND
DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Each of the Company and its ultimate holding company, Champion, has a
share option scheme under which eligible persons, including directors of the
Company, Champion or any of their respective subsidiaries, may be granted
options to subscribe for shares of the Company and Champion respectively.

Details of the share option schemes of the Company and Champion are set
out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the share option
schemes of the Company and Champion.

Other than the share option schemes described in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 30 June 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)),
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set forth under Appendix
10 of Listing Rules were as follows:

Interests in shares of associated corporation
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Approximate
percentage*

of the issued
share capital of
the relevant
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Name of associated corporation Name of director Capacity Number of shares corporation
HEBREELEE

BITRAZ
HBCEE SR EEpng 55 R#HHE BEA b &
Champion Ms. Wong Man Winny  Interest of controlled 92,961,750(L) (Note 1) 13.59%
aE EHLL corporation (FFsE1)

REHEE RS

Champion Mr. Liu Ka Lim Beneficial owner 498,000(L) 0.07%
o E B =Rt EmlEBA
Champion Mr. Clayton Ip Beneficial owner 6,000,000 (L) 0.88%
o E BRI 54 EmEB A
Notes: PR RE -
1. These shares of Champion were held by Worldwide Peace Limited, which is wholly- 1. ZETERNMBARRLEENRTEERNT

owned by Ms. Wong Man Winny, the current chairperson and executive director of the
Company and Champion. Ms. Wong Man Winny is deemed to be interested in the
shares of the Company held by Worldwide Peace Limited.

2. The letter “L” denotes the Director’'s long position in the shares of the relevant
associated corporation.

* The percentage represents the number of shares involved divided by the total number
of the issued shares of relevant associated corporation as at 30 June 2020.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (as
defined in Part XV of the SFO as at 30 June 2020 as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” below,
no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company, its subsidiaries, holding company
and any of their subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his/ her
connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors is interested in any business apart from the Group’s
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” below,
no contract of significance has been entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Group did not conduct any non-exempt
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group had entered into certain
transactions with parties which were regarded as “Related Parties” under the
applicable accounting principles. Details of those related party transactions
are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements. The
transactions which are considered as connected transactions under the
Listing Rules are further disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 30 June 2020, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
corporations or persons (other than the interests of the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had an interest or a short position in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

FERR

RZZBZZFRA=+H BREFME BX
RARBEESF KR ERGIEIBHATFEL
BRMmsEmR s TIDEERAL(RRARE
FHARFDITRABRINRARA D KA
Bin P lEEREIOXRR

Approximate
percentage*
of the issued

Name of Shareholders Capacity Number of shares share capital
HEBRITRAZ

REREZH g0 KR4 8B BHOBE D>

Champion Beneficial owner 128,137,958(L) 59.04%

BE BEmBEAA

Guangdong Finance Limited (Note 1) Person having a security interest in shares 128,137,958(L) 59.04%

BREERRLA(ME1) RROPHEEESFERZAL

Easy Fame Investment (HK) Limited (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporation 128,137,958(L) 59.04%

Ee 1% & (F7%8) BR 2R (M 1) R LA E R

Lin Ho Man (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporation 128,137,958(L) 59.04%

EER (1) RiELEEER
Note: FfEE -
1. 128,137,958 shares of the Company, representing approximately 59.04% of the

issued share capital of the Company, owned by Champion were pledged to
Guangdong Finance Limited under a facility agreement between Champion and
Guangdong Finance Limited. According to the disclosure of interests forms of
substantial shareholders filed on 6 July 2017, Guangdong Finance Limited is owned as
to 99% by Easy Fame Investment (HK) Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Lin

Ho Man.
2. The letter “L” denotes the Shareholder’s long position in the shares of the Company.
* The percentage represents the number of shares of the Company involved divided by

the number of the Company’s issued shares as at 30 June 2020.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2020, according to the register of
interests required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO,
there was no person who had any interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

1. BRECEHEREEARARGTIZRERZ
3 T P % 5 128,137,958 % A& A Al A& 19 (15 A2 &)
CBITRALS.04%) CLEBETFEREEERA
Bl BBR-_ZT—+tFLtANHBBERZEZERSE
BB BEREX EREEERAFBIELEE
(BEB)ERRREAN  MELRE(FB) A
RARBIRELERZEHRSE -

2. FRILUXRTARABRDIHBRR TR -

* BOLEMSRZARRBRNBEBRAR T
ZFERA=ZTHARRAESHTROHEE -

BEXPREEN RZEBE_ZF A=+
B mBRARRARERE KIS GG 5336
GREFzERELH BEALREAQAZ
B BERDTEEREEZRBEGD
FEXVEFE2RIN B Z R ARARATEZ
EREIAR

EEEEARAT —2-2F5F8 29
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CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

The Company had no outstanding convertible securities, options, warrants or
other similar rights as at 30 June 2020 and there had been no exercise of any
convertible securities, options, warrants or similar rights during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed the
Company’s listed securities during the year ended 30 June 2020.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group sells its products to customers, some of whom act as its
distributors, and purchases materials and components from suppliers, some
of whom act as its merchandisers.

For the year ended 30 June 2020, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers, on individual entity basis, accounted for approximately 32.2% of
the total revenue for the year and sales to the largest customer, on individual
entity basis, included therein amounted to approximately 18.6%. Purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers, on individual entity basis, accounted
for approximately 14.8% of the total purchases for the year and purchases
from the largest supplier, on individual entity basis, included therein amounted
to approximately 4.0%.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders, which to
the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital, had any interest in the share capital of the five largest
customers or suppliers of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2020, the Group employed about 175 full-time and part-time
staff around the globe. Staff costs for the year ended 30 June 2020 were
HK$78 million (2019: HK$75 million).

The remuneration of the employees of the Group is determined with reference
to market terms and the capabilities, performance, qualifications and
experience of the individual employee.

Emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the Human Resources
and Remuneration Committee of the Company after considering factors such
as the Company’s operating results, individual performance, salaries paid by
comparable companies, and time commitment and responsibilities of the
relevant director.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme that may serve as an
incentive to Directors, eligible employees and consultants where appropriate.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices or trusts, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in
respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any Directors. Such
permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors was in force
during the year and remained in force as of the date of this annual report.

The Group has taken out a Directors’ liability insurance to cover Directors’
liabilities to third parties. During the year ended 30 June 2020, no claims were
made against the Directors.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme as disclosed in this report, no equity-
linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares, or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares, were entered into by the Company during the
year or subsisted at the end of the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration paid by the Group to the Directors and senior
management of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2020 are set out in
note 10 to the financial statements.

ACTIONS TAKEN IN RESPONSE TO THE
REGULATORY ANNOUNCEMENT
PUBLISHED BY THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG ON 27 APRIL 2020

With reference to the allegations made by, regulatory concerns and findings
of, and disciplinary actions taken by the Listing Committee of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange as announced on 27 April 2020 (available on hkexnews
website of the Exchange) (the “Censure Announcement”), the Company has
obtained experienced counsel’s advice on the matters set out in that Censure
Announcement and has been liaising with law enforcement and investigation
bodies.

The Board of Directors have been making its own investigations and working
closely with the Stock Exchange on the matters set out in the Censure
Announcement since 2017. Such investigations have so far led to actions on
the Company’s cultural products as disclosed in the Company’s annual
reports of 2017, 2018 and 2019 as well as announcements made on 5, 14
and 26 February 2018. The Company’s investigations remain ongoing, as a
result of which legal proceedings may be issued and the Company and/or
one or more of its subsidiaries may be party(ies) as plaintiff(s) or defendant(s),
or in favour of or against which court orders may be issued.
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To the extent required, and not prohibited or restricted by law and regulations,
further announcement(s) will be made if the Company becomes aware of any
important milestone or any inside information (as defined in Part XIVA of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance).

AUDITOR

Moore Stephens CPA Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

By order of the Board

Ms. WONG MAN WINNY
CHAIRPERSON

Hong Kong
29 September 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

The Board and the senior management of the Company are committed to
establishing good corporate governance practices and procedures. The
maintenance of high standard of business ethics and corporate governance
practices has always been one of the Group’s goals. The Company believes
that good corporate governance provides a framework that is essential for
effective management, successful business growth and a healthy corporate
culture, thereby leading to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasize a quality
Board, sound internal controls, transparency and accountability to all
shareholders. By applying rigorous corporate governance practices, the
Group believes that its accountability and transparency will be improved
thereby instilling confidence to shareholders and the public. The Company
has been conducting its business according to the principles of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules during the year ended 30 June 2020.

Throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2020, the Group has complied
with the code provisions in the CG Code save for the deviation of code
provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, details of which will be explained in the
relevant paragraphs in this report. The Board will review its corporate
governance practice annually and make necessary changes if necessary.
Meetings were held throughout the year under review and where appropriate,
circulars and other guidance notes were issued to Directors and senior
management of the Group to ensure that they were aware of issues regarding
corporate governance practices.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Group’s business, strategic decisions and performances and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. In practice, the Board takes responsibility
for decision making in all major matters of the Company including the
approval and monitoring of all policy matters, the setting of objectives, annual
budgets and overall strategies, the entering into material transactions,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and operational
matters. The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the senior executives and the management. Their
responsibilities include the implementation of decisions made by the Board,
the co-ordination and direction of day-today operation and management of
the Company in accordance with the management strategies and plans
approved by the Board. The Board receives full support from senior
executives to discharge its responsibility. Prior approval has to be obtained
from the Board before entering into any significant transactions. The
statement of the auditor of the Company in relation to their reporting
responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 57 to 63 of this report.

Composition

The composition of the Board during the year and up to the date of this report
was as follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson)
Mr. LIU Ka Lim

Non-executive Director
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LEUNG Man Fai

Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada

Mr. Clayton IP
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

TH E BOAR D (Continued)
Composition (Continued)

One of the independent non-executive Directors has appropriate accounting
and financial management expertise. The number of independent non-
executive Directors is more than one-third of the Board. Biographical details
of the other Directors are set out in the paragraph headed “Directors and
senior management profile” on pages 19 to 21 of this report.

The presence of three independent non-executive Directors is considered by
the Board to be a reasonable balance between executive Directors and non-
executive Directors. The Board is of the opinion that such balance can
provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and of the Group. The independent non-executive Directors
provide to the Group with a wide range of expertise and experience so that
independent judgement can be exercised effectively. They have also
participated in Board meetings and general meetings, dealt with potential
conflicts of interest, served on audit committee, human resources and
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Company and
scrutinized the Group’s performance and reporting. Through their active
participation, the management process of the Company can be critically
reviewed and controlled.

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise, and
have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics and
integrity. All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the
Company’s affairs. The Board believes that the ratio between executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors is reasonable and
adequate to perform check and balance function over the Board in the
decision-making process.

The Board is responsible for the appointment of new Director and nomination
for re-election by shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company.
Under the Articles of Association, the Board may from time to time appoint a
new Director either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any new
Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office until the next annual general meeting after his/her
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

THE BOARD (Continued)
Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of Chairperson
and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

The role of Chairperson is being performed by Ms. Wong Man Winny, who is
also being an executive Director, and she is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and development of the Group and the effective functioning
and leadership of the Board.

The Company has no such title as Chief Executive Officer and therefore the
daily operation and management of the Company has been monitored by the
executive Directors as well as the senior management.

The Board is of the view that although there is no Chief Executive Officer, the
balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the Board,
which comprises experienced individuals and who meet from time to time to
look after the operations of the Company.

INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and each of them has declared fulflment of all the
guidelines for assessing independence in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Company considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

All independent non-executive Directors are identified as such in all corporate
communications containing the names of the Directors. In addition, there is
no material relationship between Board members.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

DEVIATION FROM THE CG CODE

Throughout the year ended 30 June 2020, the Company has complied with
the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, save for the deviations of code
provision A.4.1 of the CG Code below:

Term of appointment of non-executive Director

Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, all non-executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Whilst the
non-executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term, the term of
office for non-executive Directors is subject to retirement from office by
rotation and is eligible for re-election in accordance with the provisions of the
articles of association of the Company. At each annual general meeting of the
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being, (or if their number is
not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation so that each Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years. As such, the Company considers
that such provision is sufficient to meet the underlying objectives of CG Code.

BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in person or through other electronic means of
communication at least four times every year to determine the overall strategic
direction, objectives and to approve interim results, annual results or other
significant matters. Draft notice and agenda for regular meetings are provided
to all Directors for comments and inclusion of any matters for deliberation at
the meetings. Apart from holding regular meetings, senior management from
time to time provides to the Directors information on activities and
development of the business of the Group. The company secretary assists
the Chairperson in preparing agenda for the meetings and ensures that all
applicable rules and regulations in connection with the meetings are observed
and complied with. Except for ad hoc Board meetings to deal with urgent
issues, the agenda and Board papers are then sent to all Directors at least 3
days prior to the meeting. The company secretary also takes detailed
minutes, keeps records of matters discussed and decision resolved at the
meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’

M EET' NGS (Continued)

Directors’ attendances in the general meetings and the meetings of the
Board, audit committee, human resources and remuneration committee,
nomination committee and investment committee held during the year are set

out below:

Human
Resources and

>‘<‘S)ﬂ]]n9§

EEEEERRBRRAEWw

REER BOIZBERAEREEE  FXKZ
T ANERRFMERES REZEER
BEREGERZEFTLREBRHEIIMT :

Audit Remuneration Nomination Investment Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/
Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to
Name of Directors attend attend attend attend attend attend
Bt/
BHiE/ BHE/ RERLEEZ BHE/ BHE/ BHE/
CERHEEZ GEBHEZ ADERER REREEZ AEKRLEREZ SERLEEZ
BEpng EXeeE ERZESEE FWZESSE REZEE8E8E REZEE8E RRBEXAE
Executive Directors
BTES
Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson) 4/4 — - - — 11
Bt (FE)
Mr. LIU Ka Lim 4/4 — — - 2/2 11
BEREE
Non-executive Director
kHTES
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica 3/4 — — - - 11
H#F L
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYKHTES
Mr. LEUNG Man Fai 3/4 3/3 11 11 - 11
RNEEAE
Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada 3/4 3/3 11 11 2/2 01
ERERT
Mr. Clayton IP 3/4 3/3 11 11 - 0/1
HRERE
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEET'NGS (Continued)

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss and formulate the
overall strategies of the Group, monitor financial performances, review the
annual and interim results, and make decisions on significant matters. The
execution of daily operational matters is delegated to the senior executives of
the Group.

The company secretary records the proceedings of each Board meeting in
detail by keeping minutes, including the record of all decisions resolved by the
Board together with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if any).
Draft Board minutes are circulated to all Directors for comment and approval
as soon as practicable after the meeting. All minutes are open for inspection
at any reasonable time upon request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information at all times and
they may make further enquiries if it is necessary to do so.

They also have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the
company secretary, who is held responsible for providing Directors with
Board papers and other related materials. The company secretary also
ensures that proper Board procedures are followed and that all applicable
laws and regulations are complied with. If the Directors consider necessary
and appropriate, they may retain the service of independent professional
advisers at the Group’s expense.

In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a substantial shareholder
or a Director, such matter will be resolved in a physical meeting instead of
passing written resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors with no
conflict of interest will be present at meetings to deal with such conflict
issues.

The Board committees, including the audit committee, the human resources
and remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the investment
committee, have all adopted the applicable practices and procedures used in
Board meetings.

The annual general meeting and other extraordinary general meetings of the
Company are the primary forum for communication with its shareholders and
for shareholders’ participation. All shareholders are encouraged to attend the
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings on
their behalves if they are unable to attend.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Company held its annual general
meeting on 18 December 2019. Details of major items discussed in that
general meetings are set out in the circular of the Company dated 28 October
2019.
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TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors, including non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors, must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities as Directors
and of the business of the Group. As such, the Group provides a
comprehensive and formal introduction to each newly appointed Director
upon his/her appointment. Briefings and orientations are provided so as to
ensure that new Directors are familiar with the role of the Board, their legal
and other duties as a Director as well as the business and governance
practices of the Group. Such programmes are tailor made for each Director
taking into account their background and expertise.

The Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable training to all
Directors for their continuous professional development. During the year
ended 30 June 2020 and up to the date of this report, all Directors engaged
in business activities in their respective fields as continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills so as to
ensure that their contributions to the Board remain informed and relevant,
and they participated in the following training:

EEzHIlRE

EREF(ERHIATEERBILIFATE
B)WBAEEREERETZARAEUR
AEBEZEB A AEERESRHFERE
MEFEZARAERARFREHZARER
nE TEREBN S RLBIHNA - AR
EEAXESES A REEREFTZE
BLEMBE URAKEEZEBRERR
B ZEFdaNREEREZTZERRERE
MBI AWEE S BIE -

ARRABIREBEZTIHEZEERLY
SHENEILTREFRALE - RBE -2
ZERA=ZTHIIFEARBEARREHH
I 2REFERSZENRABEDEEN
DEFEEERR MR T E MBS
R MREGCEBEAGBMTEARDE
WHEBESELER RRZE28E 25N
T

Type of Training (Notes)

Name of Directors BEEHR A B ()

Executive Directors HITESE

Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson) BT (FE) A B

Mr. LIU Ka Lim BEREE AB

Non-executive Director FHITES

Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica M &+ A B

Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai RXERE AB

Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada BEHELL A B

Mr. Clayton IP BIRIE S A4 A B

Notes: Wi

A Attending seminars, briefing sessions, conference and/or forums. A tEHHSE BNEe - eBRARE-
B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy and/or general B: BMERMIKER S —REEZHFAZHRE 5

business etc.

Each Director will, upon his/her first appointment and thereafter on a yearly
basis, disclose to the Group the number and nature of offices held by such
Director in public companies and organizations and other significant
commitments.

TR EHER -
BREERNEEREZEREREFRAE

EHRBEERNDBRABNABIETZBULR
BRME  UAREMEREE -
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HUMAN RESOURCES AND
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The human resources and remuneration committee was established with
specific written terms of reference which was revised and adopted on 19
March 2012. As at 30 June 2020, the human resources and remuneration
committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Leung Man Fai (chairperson), Ms. Chung Sau Wai Ada and Mr. Clayton
Ip.

The human resources and remuneration committee is responsible for, among
other things, making recommendations to the Board regarding the overall
remuneration policy, remuneration of Directors and senior management of the
Group, share option scheme, bonus structure, provident fund and other
compensation-related issues. This committee consults with the chairperson
and/or other Board members on its proposals and recommendations and has
access to professional advice,
remuneration committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge
and perform its duties.

if necessary. The human resources and

The specific terms of reference of the human resources and remuneration
committee is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and of the
Company.

During the year under review, the human resources and remuneration
committee held one meeting to review and make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of all Directors and senior management.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was established with specific written terms of
reference which was revised and adopted on 23 September 2014. As at 30
June 2020, the nomination committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Man Fai (chairperson), Ms. Chung
Sau Wai Ada and Mr. Clayton Ip.

The main duties of the nomination committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board annually, making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board, selecting individuals nominated for directorships, assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or reappointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman
and other executive director. The nomination committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge and perform its duties.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The specific terms of reference of the nomination committee is posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The nomination
committee shall meet at least once a year.

During the year under review, the nomination committee held one meeting to
review the composition and diversity of the Board, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and considered
the appointments of Directors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee with specific written terms of
reference which was revised and adopted on 1 January 2016. The main
duties of the audit committee include, among other things, the following:

(@ to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff responsible
for the accounting and financial reporting function or external auditor
before submission to the Board.

(b)  to review the relationship with the external auditor by reference to the
work performed by the auditor, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor.

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control system and risk management system
and associated procedures.

The audit committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge and
perform its duties.

Other duties of the audit committee are set out in its specific terms of
reference which is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and of the
Company. The audit committee shall meet at least twice a year.

As at 30 June 2020, the audit committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung Man Fai (chairperson), Ms. Chung Sau
Wai Ada and Mr. Clayton Ip. No member of the audit committee is a former
partner of the existing audit firm of the Company within two years from the
date of his ceasing to be a partner or had any financial interest in the auditing
firm. The audit committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls and financial
reporting matters with the management team of the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

During the year under review, the audit committee held three meetings to
review, among other things, the Company’s interim report for the six months
ended 31 December 2019 and annual report for the year ended 30 June
2019. The audit committee has also reviewed the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, report on the Company’s internal control and risk
management review and processes as well as the re- appointment of the
external auditor. There is no material uncertainty relating to events and
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. There is no disagreement between the Board
and the audit committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of external auditor.

The accounts for the year were audited by Moore Stephens CPA Limited,
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The audit committee has recommended to the Board that Moore Stephens
CPA Limited be nominated for re-appointment as the auditor of the Company
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The company secretary keeps full minutes of all audit committee meetings. In
line with practices consistent with Board meetings and other committee
meetings, draft and final version of audit committee meeting minutes are
circulated to all members of the audit committee for comments, approval and
record as soon as practicable after each meeting.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The investment committee was established with specific written terms of
reference which was adopted on 15 August 2017. As at 30 June 2020, the
investment committee consists of one executive Director, namely, Mr. Liu Ka
Lim (Chairperson), one independent non-executive Director, namely, Ms.
Chung Sau Wai Ada and two executive staffs of the Company. The
investment committee is responsible for, among other things, to review
investment performance and to advise the Company on their investment of
cash, cash equivalents, financial assets, margin deposits, cash collateral
taking account of the necessary constraints on the deployment of the various
sources and purposes of the funds to enhance the Company’s investment
returns.

The specific terms of reference of the investment committee is posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and of the Company. The investment
committee meets at least twice a year.

During the year under review, the investment committee held two meetings to

consider the availability of suitable investments opportunities for the
Company.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted the director nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) on 28 December 2018 which sets out the criteria and process in the
nomination and appointment of directors of the Company. This Nomination
Policy ensures that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the Company; and ensures Board continuity
and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Nomination Policy contains a number of factors in assessing the
suitability of a proposed candidate, which include his or her ability to devote
sufficient effort to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity of
the Board as well as the effective carrying out by the Board of the
responsibilities.

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, his or her independence shall be assessed in accordance
with, among other things, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange
from time to time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education,
qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he
or she has the appropriate professional qualifications or related management
expertise for filling the office of an independent non-executive Director with
such qualifications or expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules.

This Policy also lays down the nomination procedures on appointment or re-
appointment of directors. The Nomination Committee will conduct the
relevant selection process (coupled with the relevant selection criteria) against
the nominated candidate for new directorship or director offering for re-
election and make recommendations to the Board for consideration. Where
appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed election and re-
election of director at the general meeting.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the approach to
achieve diversity within the Board. The Company considered that diversity of
board members can be achieved through consideration of a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity on the Board.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued) EEEHNESTIEERmw
The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits of the selected candidates HZ &R EILZKEEHE AZ 2 EH LA AE
and their contribution to the Board. R EBAE L RE o

As at the date of this annual report, the current Board composition under WRAFEHRHE  ZrotHENETEZEEH
diversified perspectives is set out as follows: REZAT

EYEEIE  $I0)081Q JO JOqunN

Designation Gender Age Professional
Z1E 151 FHe background
BENE
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 30 June 2020, the fee for the Company’s external auditor
for audit services was approximately HK$1,512,000 (2019: approximately
HK$2,004,000) and that for non-audit services mainly relating to taxation
matters was approximately HK$11,000 (2019: approximately HK$11,000
mainly relating to taxation matters).

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of the Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors, who have
confirmed that, during the year ended 30 June 2020, each of them has
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group. The
auditor is responsible to form an independent opinion on the audited financial
statements and report the same to the shareholders of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance functions including but
not limited to developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, reviewing
and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, and reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for making decisions in relation to the overall
strategic development of the Group’s business. All Directors have formal
letters of appointment setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment. Due to the diversity and volume of the Group’s business,
responsibility in relation to the daily operations and execution of the strategic
business plans are delegated to the management of the Group.

All committees, namely audit committee, human resources and remuneration
committee, nomination committee and investment committee, have specific
terms of reference setting out the authorities and responsibilities of the
respective committee. All committees are required by their terms of reference
to report to the Board in relation to their decisions, findings or
recommendations, and in certain specific situations, to seek the Board’s
approval before taking any actions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board will review, on a yearly basis, all delegations by the Board to
different committees to ensure that such delegations are appropriate and
continue to be beneficial to the Company as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’ and officers’ liability to
provide adequate cover, as determined by the Board, in respect of the
current Board members and senior management of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of transparency and
employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of relevant information to its
shareholders. The commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive and
transparent reporting of the Company’s activities can be reflected in various
aspects.

To maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders, the annual and special

general meetings provide an opportunities for shareholders to exchange
views with the Board.
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TtEERHmE (B)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS (continued)

Ms. Wong Man Winny, the Chairperson and executive Director and Mr. Liu Ka
Lim, the executive Director, attended the annual general meeting on 18
December 2019 (the “2019 Annual General Meeting”) so as to ensure that
shareholders’ views were communicated to the Board. A separate resolution
was proposed by the Chairperson in respect of each separate issue at the
2019 Annual General Meeting.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are reviewed from time to
time to ensure that the Company conforms to the best corporate governance
practices. The circular in relation to the arrangement of annual general
meeting will be circulated to all shareholders at least twenty one (21) clear
days prior to the holding of the annual general meeting, in which it sets out
the details of each resolution proposed and other relevant information. At the
2019 Annual General Meeting, all resolutions were put to vote by poll. Tricor
Secretaries Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and
transfer office was engaged as scrutineer to ensure votes were properly
counted. The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a poll
on resolutions at general meeting are contained in the Articles of Association.
An explanation of the detailed procedures for conducting a poll is provided to
the shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The Chairperson and
other directors would respond to queries raised by the shareholders regarding
the voting procedures. The poll results are published in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, two or more shareholders holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than onetenth (1/10) of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition.

If within twenty one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do so in the same
manner.
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tEER®RSE (B)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS (continued)

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a shareholder
should lodge a written notice of his/her/its proposal (the “Proposal”) with his/
her/its detailed contact information at Unit 4215, 42th Floor, Hong Kong
Plaza, 188 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong. The identity of the
shareholder will be verified with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer office. Upon confirmation by the branch share registrar
and transfer office that the request is made by a shareholder and that if the
request is proper, the Board will include the Proposal in the agenda for the
general meeting. The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholder concerned at the
general meeting varies according to the nature of the Proposal as follows:

(1) Notice of not less than twenty one (21) clear days and not less than
twenty (20) clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires
approval in an annual general meeting;

(2)  Notice of not less than twenty one (21) clear days and not less than ten
(10) clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires approval by
way of a special resolution in an extraordinary general meeting;

(8)  Notice of not less than fourteen (14) clear days and not less than ten (10)
clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires approval in an
extraordinary general meeting other than by way of a special resolution
of the Company.

The Company also communicates to its shareholders through its annual and
interim reports. The Directors, company secretary or other appropriate
members of senior management also respond promptly to inquiries from
shareholders and investors.

Shareholders may at any time serve their enquiries to the Board in writing for

the attention of company secretary at Unit 4215, 42th Floor, Hong Kong
Plaza, 188 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong.
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TtEERHmE (B)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of
corporate information to shareholders and investors. The Company updates
shareholders on its latest business developments and financial performance
through its annual and interim reports and notices, announcements and
circulars. The Company’s website (www.tricor.com.hk/webservice/01059)
provides a communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

During the year under review, there had been no significant change made to
the Company’s constitutional documents.

The Articles of Association is available on both the websites of the Company
and of the Stock Exchange.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
functions and internal control systems of the Group and ensuring review of
the effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually.
Management is responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring
such systems, while the Board oversees management in performing its duties
on an ongoing basis.

During the year, the Board has complied with the risk management and
internal control code provisions of the CG Code by establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control system. Such review covered all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls. Main features of the risk
management and internal control systems are described in the sections
below:
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tEER®RSE (B)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

Risk Management Framework

We adopt an integrated bottom-up and top-down risk review process to
enable comprehensive identification and prioritization of all material risks
throughout the Group, escalation of material risks at the right managerial
level, effective risk dialogue among the management, and proper oversight of
risk mitigation efforts.

| B B T P B BE 4E )

[ B B T AE 2R

BMFABTmEES LT 2EARRE
*Z%EJ*'LA@EEE%%E'J&*EB%@GE%&EU%%
ZKEIWﬁﬁﬁEKﬂKA'H%EKHEAJ:i&%
BEZEREEN EEEECHMERETT
ﬁxﬁl%%'iﬁ;zmmagﬁzi%lﬁ 2 Z FE e o

The Board E=&
— Has overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management systems and internal control

systems;
“Top-down” BRARAEEZEAREEHERABEEZEHEZ
Overseeing, —  Sets strategic objectives;
identification, HIERBEBIEZ
assessment and — Reviews the effectiveness of our risk management systems and internal control systems;
mitigation of risk at Tz B IR G E N A B EE A 2 R
corporate level —  Monitors the nature and extent of risk exposure to our major risks; and

ERTERBOMEBERAAIEREES &
—  Provides direction on the importance of risk management culture.
BEREEX L2 EEERE T -

Management S
—  Designs, implements, and monitors risk management and internal control systems; and
HE ERRERRBREBRANDELRSE: &
—  Assesses our risk and mitigating measures Company-wide.

FHE AR R & T E < LR KR A

Audit Committee BEZZEES
— Supports the Board in monitoring risk exposure, design and effectiveness of the underlying
risk management and internal control systems.

business unit level THEEEOERARATIE IR ER S R e T Y s R
and across
functional areas Operational Level &iEEMH
;- — Risk identification, assessment and mitigation performed across the business; and
B S5 B AL fE T HEBHI  THELRBRR &
A B B0 B Al - — Risk management process and internal controls practiced across business operations and
AT fiy R R B functional areas.

MEBLENBHOBEERBRERREF LA ERE-
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TtEERHmE (B)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

Risk Management Framework (Continued)

The risk management framework adopted by the Group is embedded in our
strategy development, business planning and day-to-day operations. The
Group adopts a control and risk self-assessment methodology and
continuously assess and manages its risk profile on a regular basis. Risks that
are relevant to the Group’s business are identified, assessed and ranked
according to their likelihood and consequence on the Group. Risk owners are
required to submit risk alerts with risk response promptly to the Board and
Audit Committee for ongoing review and monitoring. Action plans were
formulated and implemented during the year to address the areas of concern
effectively.

Internal Control System and Continuous
Improvement

The Company has in place an internal control system which is based on the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (‘COSO”)
framework for internal controls and has five components, namely Control
Environment;
Communication; and Monitoring. In developing our internal control system,
we have taken into consideration our organizational structure and the nature
of our business activities.

Risk Assessment; Control Activities; Information and

We have put in place a phased improvement plan and progressed to future
enhance our internal controls and risk management system. The phase of the
plan focused on adopting a more riskbased (instead of process based)
approach to risk identification and assessment. This approach enriches our
ability to analyze risks and respond to opportunities as we pursue our
strategic objectives. Management reporting to the Audit Committee has also
been enhanced, including the presentation of special reports on selected risk
topics.

[B B2 B B R AP B

[2 Bz 5 T8 AE 2R ()

AEBEFBAzAREBERERNEMAR
BRER - EBAEARAERES - AEBE K
FA 2 ) K Jo\ B B B AT J7 ORI E B RS A AT A
REERRKRER FHEASEXHKZERTD
REBEEAEERERAEEER ZRRETH
A FEES B -RBRAAEARINAESS
FERZZEERXMTRARREZARE S
NETHBEERRER - FROCHEREE
TTEET S AR AR B R

o 1

\

NMEEFERSENE

ARNRRBEANBEZEHE - DEKERER
MR EZBE T ERLAZE Z(Commitee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission) ([COSO ) #t A 3P & 2 4E 28 %l /&
T OBRRBEERE RERITME EZEEH &
ARBBAREEOBEEAKILES - EHEA
HEEHNER M ZEIETEBRE
NEBEHULE -

HPIE B E DR SCER BIA B IR B
7 WmMBEAEEAEREREAREEHE -
FH &) 7 BN ISR DA BB B 2R A AN (T JE A AR

FRA)zZ7ABNEFERR < HMAEE
EXRBERZHERENOMAR Y ERE

EHEE - BEEENMEAFTZZEGER
BREMETRARZEERZFH®RE -

EEEEMARAT —2-2FFH% 53



tEER®RSE (B)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

Internal Control System and Continuous
Improvement (continued)

In the current place, we still aim to integrate internal controls and risk
management into our business processes, including in annual budgeting and
planning. Instead of treating the COSO framework as a framework-update
exercise, a holistic approach has been adopted by us, taking into
consideration the Company’s circumstances, including its ongoing internal
controls and risk management improvement plan as well as other strategic
initiatives. (e.g. corporate social responsibility strategy and reporting). All of
these enhance our ultimate objective to make our risk management system a
“live” one that is practiced on a day-to-day basis by operating units.

The Group also adopts and implements an inside information policy and
procedures to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and
timeliness of its public disclosures. The following measures have been taken
from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach
of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession
of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to
preserve confidentiality.

° Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into
significant negotiations.

° The Executive Directors are the designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when communicating with external parties such
as the media, analysts or investors.

Internal Audit

The Group has engaged an external professional consultant to take the
primary role to perform the Internal Audit (“IA”) function, and professional staff
with relevant expertise of the Group are designated to provide assistance in
the |A function. The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily operation
and carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal control systems
by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness.

An IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the established
plan, review of the risk management and internal control systems is
conducted annually and the results are reported to the Board via Audit
Committee afterwards.
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TtEERHmE (B)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The
following are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There
may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below which
are not known to the Group or which may not be material now but could turn
out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

System Products

Loss of market share and the uncertainties are the risks we are facing it, great
change is taking place with each passing day on the stage of the internet and
technology world. The Group needs to continue exploring opportunities in
technology innovation to broaden the market share and keep investing in
products research and development.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group operates its businesses in Hong Kong and UK and transactions
are denominated in HKD and Pound. The value of Pound against HKD and
other currencies may fluctuate and is affected by, among others, changes in
the economic conditions and policies. However, fluctuations in the exchange
rates of Pound would have limited impact on the Group’s operations because
the portion of revenue from UK will be used and refinanced in UK.

Legal Risk

Legal risk is the risk that unenforceable contracts, lawsuits or adverse
judgments may disrupt or otherwise negatively affect the operations or
financial conditions of the Group. The Group has complied with the relevant
laws and regulations during the year.

Review of Risk Management & Internal Controls
Effectiveness

For the year ended 30 June 2020, the Board, through its review and the
reviews made by IA function and Audit Committee, considered that the risk
management and internal control system were effective and adequate. No
significant areas of concern that may affect the financial, operational,
compliance controls, and risk management functions of the Group has been
identified. During the review, the Board also considered the resources,
qualification and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions, and their training and budget were
adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.
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tEER®RSE (B)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance is significant in
strengthening investor confidence and attracting investment. The
management will devote considerable effort to strengthening and improving
the standards of the corporate governance of the Group. Any views and
suggestions from the Shareholders to promote and improve our transparency
are also welcome.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

K| MOORE

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of Kantone Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kantone Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
64 to 162, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 30 June 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2020, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

FAREREE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were HAREREBIZEERMAOZELHE  RA
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of W AREAG A M B R ENERZTAEENS
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit TH- - E L ZHEE AR PIB X EBEEE A M HH®
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our XEEHEAEEZRAEBEFUERERN - ZfT &%
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. ELEFEIIIEHEBNER BRIRE=R

Key audit matter

RREERSHE

B E R BB 0 R RO FIRSN - AP HEE PA
TEEREMBETEEENHRERER -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMETERBIAEERREER SR

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

P& W B 5 BR FX B IR B T A

We identified the impairment of trade receivables as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and the estimation of impairment
losses entails a significant degree of subjective estimation and
assessment.
HREWESEANEREYGA M ERRERNEEEE
B AEORE[E S RRKRIBEN F B AT RATE - R
RREWEZRFBECEEEZEE -

As disclosed in the note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, the trade receivables net of impairment amounted to
HK$14,299,000 as at 30 June 2020. No allowance for credit loss
has been recognised for the year ended 30 June 2020.
WMEEEVBREMTIOMEE RZE_FFA=1TH"
NER R (B B 12 1) R R E 5 IR 3R A 4 & 58 /814,299,000 78
T BE_T_TFAA=ZTALFE YEEREEREE
B

Management performed periodic assessment on the recoverability
of the trade receivables and the sufficiency of provision for
impairment based on information including credit profile of
different customers, ageing of the trade receivables, historical
settlement records, subsequent settlement status, expected
timing and amount of realisation of outstanding balances, and on-
going trading relationships with the relevant customers.
Management also considered forward looking information that
may impact the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding
balances in order to estimate the expected credit losses for the
impairment assessment.

ERERBEIARATFNEAMN BUREZERNDER B
THEERS BELERAL ERRSOW UEEEEY
PHRREBXIERSEHNERKE IR I E &R
BERENTEHEETENANG -BERENSZREAIETER
PR REREEDOAELEER KM EREEEER
B EE AT -

We focused on this area due to the management’s estimation of
impairment on trade receivables based on the expected credit
losses model involved the use of significant management
judgements and estimates.
HMBETHBEDHNEREEBRENREFERE SR
EREREBENHE M -
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Our procedures in relation to the assessment of recoverability
of trade receivables included:

BPAAFEEZEREFEN TR D ENZF R

o Obtaining an understanding of how the expected credit
loss on trade receivables is estimated by the
management;

THREEBNAGERKEZRANEREEEE

° Testing the ageing of trade receivables, on a sample
basis, to the supporting documents and the credit term
granted;

i 38 B ORI B E B W E ) BR RRBR e BB B X I
EENGEABRESYE

° Challenging the information used by the management to
determine the expected credit losses by considering cash
collection performance against historical trends and the
level of credit loss charges over time;
ERAFBEGEFENEALELHBEBE X
RebmER KthETRAGEEEEBRESD
25

o Reviewing the accuracy of management’s judgement by
comparing against historical management’s actual write-

offs;
EEBAERAOMIRE - URREIEE H B A ER
1

° Discussing with the management on their assessment

based on the business relationship with customers in
relation to overdue trade receivables with/without
settlement; and
HERENABEEREZTPNEBBERMYRE
BE/ REFHBHREKE SHRENTG: &

° Examining on sampling basis evidence related to post
year end cash receipt.

kA FARNRS O Y -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HREEREE

FAREBEZEEm

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMETERRINEEARERER

Impairment assessment of loan receivables

P& W2 & R B9 3R 1B BT b

We identified the impairment of loan receivables as a key audit

Our procedures in relation to the assessment of recoverability

matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated of loan receivables include:

financial statements as a whole and the estimation of impairment
losses entails a significant degree of subjective estimation and
assessment.
HREREFOEREEAMBRREBNESEEN - U
FREMGMESRRAREN TG RAE AR MRAE
WERREEHEREZEE -

As disclosed in the note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements, the loan receivables net of impairment amounted to
HK$14,480,000 as at 30 June 2020. No allowance for credit loss
has been recognised for the year ended 30 June 2020.

MERE M EREMF 20 EE RS _TFA=1+H"
MR EREEROEREFFEER14,480,000/8 7T &L E —
T_ZFRA=ZTHLEFE TEBIAEEEERE-

Management assessment on the recoverability of the loan
receivables and sufficiency of provision for impairment based on
information including credit profile of the borrowers, historical
settlement records, subsequent settlement status, expected
timing and amount of realisation of outstanding balances.
Management also considered forward looking information that
may impact the borrowers’ ability to repay the outstanding
balances in order to estimate the expected credit losses for the
impairment assessment.
EREERBERANGEAMRR BEEERE BELEMK
ARBHRSOREEFELFENHEKRE R A LM &
BMERENTREETHE -EEETEERA T EER
ABERENWAELEER  EMEEREEBETGEL G
5t e

We focus on this area due to the management’s estimation of
impairment on loan receivables based on the expected credit
losses model involved the use of significant management
judgements and estimates.
BHMBETHBE RN EREEYEREEBENREN G
BMEPREREERENAB MM -

BB ARF G E SR WGRIE R A W E 2 Fr B35

Obtaining an understanding of how the expected credit
loss on loan receivables is estimated by the management;
THREBBNMAMERKERNEREEEE:

Challenging the information used by the management to
determine the expected credit losses by considering cash
collection performance against historical trends and the
level of credit loss charges over time;
ERAFABEGEFERNEARELHBEBD X
RebRWER KMETRBEEEEREBERSSD
B

Reviewing the accuracy of management’s judgement by
comparing against historical management’s actual write-
offs;
EBATEROMRRE - DREREIEE X B e &R
{3

Discussing with the management on their assessment
based on the business relationship with borrowers in
relation to loan receivables with/without settlement; and
HEBBNWBEEGRANEBHEARERER
T EEETIMG R

Examining, on sampling basis, evidence related to post
year ended cash receipt.

WM FERNRS DY -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the financial
highlights, corporate information, chairperson’s statement, management
discussion and analysis, directors and senior management profile, directors’
report and corporate governance report but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors of the Company.

REMMBERGRS M HRR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Cheung Sai Kit
Practising Certificate Number: P05544

Hong Kong, 29 September 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE_ZT-ZTEFA=1THIEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B3 TH&T FHET
Revenue &= 6 146,944 143,966
Cost of sales SHE KA (63,813) (59,679)
Gross profit EF 83,131 84,287
Other income, gains and losses Ha g A - Yz R EE 7 5,929 3,407
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB QAR 2 11 - 109
Distribution costs 73 85 A A (27,172) (29,229)
General and administrative expenses —RRITHE (58,392) (64,014)
Impairment losses recognised for inventories HIFEFERZBERE 18 (22) -
Research and development costs expensed o R AT (1,556) (2,518)
Finance costs B 75 B AR 8 (808) (249)
Profit before taxation BB AR R 9 1,110 1,793
Income tax credit FriEfiiE % 12 2,765 644
Profit for the year EFEEF 3,875 2,437
Other comprehensive expense: Hit2mEXZ W
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: BT B DD ER T
EHE -
Remeasurement of defined benefits pension plans & & # 7E 45 41 >~
RIKAE A 27(b) (20,922) (882)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to HEEn g7 HEEBn2
profit or [oss: EH :
Exchange difference arising on translation of INEBHREMES 2
foreign operations bE 3, = &8 (8,314) (5,011)
Other comprehensive expense for the year AEEHMEEIH (24,236) (5,893)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEEXEXHEAE (20,361) (3,456)
Earnings per share BREF
— Basic and diluted —EAR R &8s 14 HK1.94 centsigfll  HK1.24 centsi&{ll

The notes on pages 69 to 162 form part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R-ZE-TFNA=1+H AT 30 JUNE 2020

2020 2019
—EC-ZF —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mo 3E TH&T FHET

Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME  BENMEE 15 27,921 28,666
Right-of-use assets TREEE 16 3,890 -
Development costs for systems and networks EE M BEFEEKA 17 - -
31,811 28,666

Current assets REBEE
Inventories TE 18 20,721 24,227
Trade and other receivables W E 5 & B AR 3R 19 21,322 25,157
Loan receivables & W B 3K 20 14,480 -
Tax recoverable JFE UK R 3R 2,437 1,023
Cash and cash equivalents He MESEE 21 95,472 83,365
154,432 133,772
Current liabilities FEBEE

Trade and other payables B E 5 R EAMIRRK 22 44,452 39,547
Contract liabilities EHAaE 23 22,096 21,587
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 2,177 -
Warranty provision REEAE 25 1,230 1,347
Amount due to a director BN —RBEEFHIE 26 2,180 4,180
Amount due to ultimate holding company R &EER R A 33 8,561 3,016
Tax payable FEAS L3R 93 2
80,789 69,679
Net current assets RBEEFRE 73,643 64,093
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERRBARS 105,454 92,759

Non-current liabilities kRBAEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 1,893 -
Retirement benefit obligations IR RAE A AR 27(b) 50,740 25,301
52,633 25,301
Net assets EEFHE 52,821 67,458
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

R-ZE-ZTF,NA=1+H AT 30 JUNE 2020

2020 2019
—E-EF —E—RAF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
o FE R FAET

Capital and reserves BAREE
Share capital & A 29(b) 21,704 19,731
Reserves X 31,117 47,727
Total equity ERBE 52,821 67,458

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 162 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 September 2020 and
are signed on its behalf by:

WONG MAN WINNY
B#

Chairperson

*iE

The notes on pages 69 to 162 form part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HEZZT-ZTHFA=1THILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Share Share Capital Translation  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve losses equity
BTN R 43 5B BXGEE B 5 ZAER ey 33
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FER FHT FET FET TAT

(note 29(c)(i))  (note 29(c)(i)  (note 29(c)ii)
(MEE200)0)  (MIEE20()) (B &E20(c) i)

At 1 July 2018 R-ZE-\EtB-H 19,731 795,357 966,807 9,363 (1,720,344) 70,914
Profit for the year KE 5 A - - - - 2,437 2,437
Remeasurement of defined benefts & & i 41 4] 7 R &

pension plans = - - - - (882) (882)
Exchange difference arising on WEBREREEL

translation of foreign operations ERZ® - - - (5,011) - (5,011)
Total comprehensive expense AEEREXLAE

for the year - - - (5,011) 1,555 (3,456)

At 30 June 2019 as previously R-ZZE-hEXA=1H

reported 030 i 19,731 795,357 966,807 4352 (1,718,789 67,458
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 41 & )X & FAHKFRS % 1657

16 Leases (note 2) HENFE (T2 - - - - (209) (209)
At 1 July 2019 (restated) RZZ-NFtA—H

(&E7) 19,731 795,357 966,807 4,352 (1,718,998) 67,249

Profit for the year AEEEE - - - - 3875 3,875
Remeasurement of defined benefits & & 7 5 4 1 &l 7 R (£

pension plans B - - - - (20922) (20922)
Exchange difference arising on NEBREREEL

translation of foreign operations ERZ® - - - (8,314) - (3,314)
Total comprehensive expense AEE2EYTEE

for the year - - . (3.314) (17,047) (20,361)

Issuance of new shares upon placing & & % {7 B 21737 iR
of shares less transaction costs B2 5B (1 5E29(0))

(note 29(b)) 1,973 3,960 - - - 5,933
At 30 June 2020 R-B-BEXA=1+AH 21,704 799,317* 966,807" 1,038 (1,736,045)* 52,821
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately * W EFEBERPFEKGAUBRARZGEAHFHRE

HK$31,117,000 (30 June 2019: HK$47,727,000) in the consolidated statement of #4381,117,0008 (T — AL FE A=+ H:
financial position. 47,727,000 7T.) ©

The notes on pages 69 to 162 form part of these consolidated financial $69ZE 162 B Al v WX A S5 A MK R E
statements. ZHRER S o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

ZEZTFAA=THIEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 7 FERT FET
Cash flows from operating activities REEBZHAESR
Profit before taxation B %54 BT i A 1,110 1,793
Adjustments for: 7
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BMENMREZITE 9 7,406 6,635
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE 9 1,845 -
Finance costs B 75 B AR 8 808 249
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE B ARz W = (109)
Impairment losses recognised for inventories MIFERRZAEEE 18 22 -
Interest income B HA 7 (2,691) (1,150)
8,500 7,418
Decrease in inventories FEZBD 3,484 110
Decrease in trade and other receivables EUWE 5 & H bR 2L 5,953 8,227
Increase in trade and other payables ERE S REAMBRK ZIE M 9,949 5,440
Increase in contract liabilities AHBEZEM 509 553
(Decrease)/increase in warranty provision {7?( EEEZ CR D),/ (117) 111
Net cash generated from operations MEEBIE 2R FH 28,278 21,859
Income tax refunded Fr 13 R iR A% 300 -
Net cash generated from operating activities KEEBEE RS TR 28,578 21,859
Cash flows from investing activities REZHZ2EHER
Purchases of property, plant and equipment WNEME W % K& 15 (8,208) (6,692)
Advances of loan to third parties BE=ZHRER (14,480) -
Net cash outflow from disposal of subsidiaries HENBARREZRE T8 - @)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - ﬁ B k&
plant and equipment Fr 15 89 3% 564 -
Interest received =R EINS 42 1,150
Interest received from loan receivables 2 Y e Hﬂl% &S 1,055 -
Net cash used in investing activities RETBHREZRSFE (21,027) (5,549)
Cash flows from financing activities METBHZ2REER
Net proceeds from issuance of shares BIIREMGBZ 5%" IB 5,933 -
Repayment to a director BE—RESEN 21(b) (2,000) -
Repayment to ultimate holding company BERKERA 7 2 FE 21(b) = (733)
Loan from ultimate holding company JE 5 B 454 B “/‘ 21(b) 4,893 3,500
Repayment of lease liabilities EERER ﬁ 21(b) (2,023) -
Net cash generated from financing activities METERME2RSFE 6,803 2,767
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents We NBEESEE I INFERE 14,354 19,077
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year ¢ VRERBEeEHE 83,365 71,626
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes fE Ry & (2,247) (7,338)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FERENRESEEHE 21 95,472 83,365
The notes on pages 69 to 162 form part of these consolidated financial Z69FE 162 B FE ~ Wit At EE A M B MK

statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ZE-FTF;NA=+H 30JUNE 2020

1.

GENERAL

Kantone Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands and
its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Exchange”). Its ultimate and immediate holding
company is Champion Technology Holdings Limited (“Champion”), a
company which was originally incorporated in the Cayman Islands but
subsequently re-domiciled to Bermuda, and its shares are also listed
on the Main Board of the Exchange. The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Hong
Kong dollar (‘HK$”), which is also the Company’s functional currency.
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 35.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has applied, for the first time in the current year, the
following new and revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA:

HKFRS 16 Leases

K (IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or

Settlement
Amendments to HKAS 28  Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle

1.

2.

SR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

—E-TF,A=F+H 30 JUNE 2020

2.

70

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 Leases (‘HKFRS 16”) for the first
time in the current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases (‘HKAS
17”), and the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to
contracts that were previously identified as lease applying HKAS 17
and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease and not apply this standard to contracts that were not previously
identified as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has not
reassessed contracts which already existed prior to the date of initial
application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 July 2019, the
Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance with the
requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract
contains a lease.

As a lessee
The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the cumulative
effect recognised at the date of initial application, 1 July 2019.

As at 1 July 2019, the Group recognised additional lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets. The lease liabilities were measured at their present
value discounted using the incremental borrowing rates of the relevant
group entities at the date of initial application. And the right-of-use
assets were measured, by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(i) transition, at
their carrying amounts as if the standard applied since the
commencement date but discounted using the incremental borrowing
rates of the relevant group entities at the date of initial application. Any
difference at the date of initial application is recognised in the opening
retained profits and comparative information has not been restated.
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

When applying the modified retrospective approach under HKFRS 16
at transition, the Group applied the following practical expedients to
leases previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, on
lease-by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to the respective lease
contracts:

relied on the assessment of whether leases are onerous by
applying HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets as an alternative of impairment review;

elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for leases with lease term ending within 12 months of the date of
initial application;

excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use
assets at the date of initial application; and

applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of lease with a similar
remaining terms for similar class of underlying assets in similar
economic environment.

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously classified as
operating leases, the Group has applied incremental borrowing rates of
the relevant group entities at the date of initial application. The weighted
average incremental borrowing rate of around 3.5% has been applied.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. MMFHETRBIETES
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B 7% 3R &5 28 Bl o
STANDARDS (continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) HKFRS %1635 10 & (&)
As a lessee (Continued) EREME A (@)
At 1 July 2019
RZZE—NF
+tA—H
HK$'000
FAT
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 30 June 2019 RZE-—NAFAAA=Z+THEERED
4T B R 6,207
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant incremental borrowing rates 8 & & &1k 4 W1 & & 5 A K # 17
Ak 35 6,036
Less: Recognition exemption — short term leases B R —EEEE (2,318)
Lease liabilities as at 1 July 2019 R-ZE—h&E+HA—BNHEEERE 3,718
Analysed as: DATIAE :
Current T 1,402
Non-current JEMED 2,316
3,718
The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1 July 2019 comprises —E-NF+tA—HWEREEERT
the following: BT
Right-of-use
assets
EREEE
HK$'000
FHET
Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases recognised upon i FI HKFRS 55 16 5% B4 i 57 ) Bl 48 &
application of HKFRS 16 HERHMNERAREE 3,509
By class: ZEE R
Buildings EF 1,886
Motor vehicles AE 1,623
3,509
KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. MMFETREIETES
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B % 3 & 2 Al )
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) HKFRS % 16 5% 1 & (@)
As a lessor fEREHBEA
Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially, unchanged from HKFRSZE 165 IE TR A ERE R
HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify leases as either operating or FHEEBSERFEI17HRIB N E A%
finance leases using similar principles as in HKAS 17. Therefore, BlAE BHEABEEFTFREESTE
HKFRS 16 does not have an impact for leases where the Group is the A7 ARG HES » /K
lessor. EHESREMAE - At - HKFRSE 16
WEHAEBIEALHANAE L B|EK
R GERE -
The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised in the RZE-—NWF+LtA—HEAVBERIE
consolidated statement of financial position at 1 July 2019. Line items PHRIANSHEIELATHARE - KRB
that were not affected by the changes have not been included. ENTENERTYERIEERN-
Carrying
amounts Carrying
previously amounts under
reported at HKFRS 16 at
30 June 2019 Adjustments 1 July 2019
S AR R-ZZE—h&F
—E-hF tA—BRE
~A=+H HKFRS 2516 5%
EHWEREE FAE BETIWERAEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAET
Non-current Assets ERBEE
Right-of-use assets EAEEE - 3,509 3,509
Current Liabilities REAE
Lease liabilities HEBE - 1,402 1,402
Non-current Liabilities FRBARE
Lease liabilities HEaE - 2,316 2,316
Capital and Reserves ERNEE
Accumulated losses 25 E 8 (1,718,789 (209) (1,718,998)

EEEEMARAT —S-SFF8 /3



e MR (8
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

—E-TF,A=F+H 30 JUNE 2020

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. R RGBT ER

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B 7% 3 & 2 Al )
STANDARDS (continued)
The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs AREBWERSERUTEEHRGEG X
that have been issued but are not yet effective: AR 2 E] KA AE RT BV HKFRS
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts® HKFRS %17 5% R A #°
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business* HKFRS 28 355 ¥BHER"
CEHES)
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark HKFRS £ 95% - FREERE
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform’ EHB e ER|
2 395k M HKFRS
FBTHR2EF]
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets HKFRSE 105t &k R EFEBREBE N
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its EBe%8 AAEBNEY
Associate or Joint Venture® Fo8R (1BE]A) BrzEBEHE
g A
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent HKFRS 55 16 5% B COVID-1948 8 /Y
Concessions® (BT A) i
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Amendments to Definition of BAE G| BEAMZESE
HKAS 8 Material’ F1RE CCHESK
BEAGITER
F 85 2 157E]
Conceptual Framework for Revised Conceptual Framework 2018F BTG E BT MG mE
Financial Reporting 2018 for Financial Reporting' B & HE 2R BAatEZR
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 1 R2o020F1 A1B K2 % Fa 2 FE R
EX
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 2 Ro021F1 A1 28 MAB 2 FE R
E24
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined 3 S BEETE
4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the 4 YU B B A2020F1 A1 B sk 2 2 Bt
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning JERFEENBHER AR E¥BKES
on or after 1 January 2020 B A 3
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020 5 R2020F6 A1B e 2 %A 2 FEH
] A RR
The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the new E E G H T 5T K &8 ETHKFRS & & % 7K
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact of the EEFEAVBREALREENSHBERE
amounts reported and disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated KNELE o

financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. T EEiHXK

3.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs (which includes all the HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (‘HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
HKICPA and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for defined benefit retirement plan. Historical
cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2020. A
subsidiary is an entity, directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those used by

other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group’s equity therein.

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. X EEBE ®w

(Continued)

Allocation of total comprehensive income to
non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in existing subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control
over a product or service to a customer.

The Group satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue
over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@  The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs.

(b)  The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced.

() The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternate use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

If none of the above conditions are met, the Group recognises revenue
at the point in time at which the performance obligation is satisfied.

When the Group satisfies a performance obligation by delivering the
promised goods or services, it creates a contract based asset on the
amount of consideration earned by the performance. Where the
amount of consideration received from a customer exceeds the amount
of revenue recognised, this gives rise to a contract liability.

The Group recognises revenue from sales of goods (including cultural
products and systems and related software licensing) based on the
consideration specified in a contract with a customer and the Group
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group
satisfies a performance obligation when it transfers control of the
cultural products and systems and related software licencing to a
customer. Sales of systems and related software licensing is a single
performance obligation. Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at
the point in time.

The revenue from provision of installation service is recognised over
time.

The revenue from provision of maintenance services is recognised over
time as the customers simultaneously receive and consume the
benefits from the Group’s performance. Input method is used to
measure the progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative
to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

Rental income, including rental invoiced in advance from assets under
operating leases, is recognised on a straight-line basis over the relevant
lease term.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not
credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant
and equipment less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Freehold land Nil

Buildings on freehold land 50 years

Leasehold land and buildings Over the shorter of the remaining
unexpired terms of the
relevant leases or 50 years

Plant and machinery and 10%-50%

communications networks

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an operating
lease separately based on the assessment as to whether substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements are
operating leases, in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including
any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of the
lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating lease is
presented as “right-of-use assets” (upon application of HKFRS 16) or
“prepaid lease payments” (before application of HKFRS 16) in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is released over the
lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and building elements, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Impairment (other than development costs for
systems and networks and financial assets)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of
an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contact are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contact that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably expects
that the effects on the consolidated financial statements would not
differ materially from individual leases within the portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of properties that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received,;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it
is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of investment property or inventory as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposit

Refundable rental deposit paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of use assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments that
are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
values guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 July 2019)
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as a lessor (prior to 1 July 2019)

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Development costs for systems and networks

Development costs for systems and networks projects including those
paid to independent system developers, are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Development costs are recognised only if all of the following have been
demonstrated:

—  the technical feasibility of completing the asset so that it will be
available for use or sale;

—  theintention to complete the asset and use or sell it;

—  the ability to use or sell the asset;

—  how the asset will generate probable future economic benefits.
Among other things, the entity can demonstrate the existence of
a market for the output of the asset or the asset itself or, if it is to
be used internally, the usefulness of the asset;

—  the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
asset; and

—  the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the
asset during its development.

Development costs that do not fulfill the above conditions are
recognised as expenses in the period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation is calculated based on straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, subject to a maximum of three years.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Development costs for systems and networks
(Continued)

Where the recoverable amount of development costs for systems and
networks has declined below their carrying amount, the carrying
amount is reduced to reflect the decline in value. Where an impairment
loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

An item of development costs, including any deposits and prepaid
development costs for systems and networks is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in
profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Research expenditures

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.
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(Continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) on the following item:

—  financial assets measured at amortised cost (including cash and
cash equivalents and trade and other receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses
are measured as the present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls for receivables are discounted using the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof where the effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit
risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort.
This includes information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)
ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result
from possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from
all possible default events over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs on the basis that there are no significant
financing components. ECLs on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

Loss allowances for loan receivables are measured at an amount equal
to life time ECLs and assessed individually.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020

FESTHEXw®

FEEEREERE®@m

TRMTANEEFE@
STEBEAEEEE (A
BHEEBERSRBUTE £ £

= -

- NREABRHEEER:EEHRAH
BI2EAAAEELENENSEMH
mEMMAHEE &

- =HRHEERE: ERHEES
BRAEBEB Z2EHEHAM
BrARENEHEHMEYRER-

BREZERZERBBEEREERR
EROMER E-—REZERAARZHE
HEEBRNSRBFE - REWAH
ZETRMEENBHEEBERDRER
SEMNESLEEBREREMRESER
ETHE REEBANEEERRRY
B AR IER — RGN K R 1T
% o

RURERBREGNFEZRERS
HEREEBBRAR  LEFETHE -

ERFBEEMERMIA  AEBEIAE
EFRNREANBEHEEFRERER
BREE BRIFAVNAERRZESRT
AMEERBBELZM AUHBERT
ERAEFENEZMENEEBERSER

=
2= -°



A HRRNE (B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

—ZE-FTF;NA=+H 30JUNE 2020

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the
risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In
making this reassessment, the Group considers that a default event
occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to
the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past
due. The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or interest on their
contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial
instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment
of a significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual
basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk
ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the
financial instrument’s credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in
the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of
the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is
credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following
observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for a security because of
financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either
partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are
recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in
which the recovery occurs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

This assessment was made collectively where these financial assets
shared similar risk characteristics, such as similar past due status, and
had not been individually assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for
financial assets which were assessed for impairment collectively were
based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to the collective Group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreased
and the decrease could be linked objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment loss was reversed
through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss was only
recognised to the extent that it did not result in the asset’s carrying
amount exceeding that which would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

When the recovery of a trade and other receivables or other financial
assets carried at amortised cost was considered doubtful but not
remote, associated impairment losses were recorded using an
allowance account. When the Group was satisfied that recovery was
remote, the amount considered irrecoverable was written off against
the gross carrying amount of those assets directly. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to the allowance account
were reversed against the allowance account. Other changes in the
allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off directly were recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Provision

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as
a result of a past event, and it is probable that the Group will be
required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the
effect is material).

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is calculated using the first-in, first-out method except for cost of
cultural products, which are assigned by using specific identification
cost method.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
In such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

When the contract includes a significant financing component, the
contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective interest
method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right
to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-
term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the
consolidated cash flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECL.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Trade
and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for borrowing costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEi X @

3.

(Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ’profit before taxation’ as reported in profit or
loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable and deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the
asset realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The
chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the directors of the Company that made strategic
decisions during the year.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the group entities are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate
of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (the translation
reserve). Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund.

Certain subsidiaries of the Company operate a self-administered and
funded pension scheme in the United Kingdom. The scheme provides
defined pension benefits with reference to the final salary of the
members at retirement and their length of service. The scheme is
closed to new members since 1 January 2003.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit retirement
plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in
the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine
the present value and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The
calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit
credit method.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Retirement benefit scheme (continued)

Service Cost and net interest expense/(income) on the net defined
benefit liability/(asset) are recognised in profit or loss and allocated by
function as part of “administrative expense”. Current service cost is
measured as the increase in the present value of the defined benefit
obligation resulting from employee service in current period. When the
benefits of a plan are changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the portion
of the changed benefit related to past service by employees, or the
gain or loss on curtailment, is recognised as an expense in profit or loss
at the earlier of when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs and
when related restructuring cost or termination benefit are recognised.
Net interest expense/(income) for the period is determined by applying
the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit liability/(asset).
The discount rate is the yield at the end of the reporting period on high
quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the
terms of the Group’s obligations.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit retirement plans are
recognised in other comprehensive income and reflected immediately
in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to profit or loss.
Remeasurements comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on
plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability/(asset)) and any change in the effect of the asset
ceiling (excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined
benefit liability/(asset).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEE:H B E @

(Continued)
Related party

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to
the Group if that person:

i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of the Group
or the Group’s parent;

or

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(v the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vi)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is @ member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personal services to the
reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying

4. EXRHE R A REE
M2 EERIR

() ERASEEEHBRZE

the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following accounting judgements:

Classification of inventories

The Group holds certain cultural products for resale in the
ordinary course of business. Although the value of cultural
products may appreciate over time, it is the Group’s intention to
hold such assets for trading. Accordingly, those items of cultural
products are classified as inventories under current assets.

Revenue recognition

Judgement is required in determining the timing of satisfaction of
performance obligation. The Group derives revenue from sale of
cultural products, systems and related software. The Group
carefully evaluates the terms and conditions stipulated in contract
and/or sale order with a customer and assesses when the
control of the goods has been transferred to the customer. In
addition, the Group also assessed whether the Group is acting
as the principal (i.e. whether the Group has the primary
responsibility for the sale of goods, bears the risks of loss and
obsolescence, and also has full discretion over the goods). The
directors of the Company have determined that the control is
passed to customer upon the goods are delivered to the agreed
destination. This also is the point in time at which the right to
consideration becomes unconditional.

The directors of the Company assessed and considered that the
sales of systems and installation are one single performance
obligation and to be recognised at a particular point in time (i.e.
when control of the systems and software is transferred to the
customer). The Group delivers products to customers after
installation of customised softwares in the systems. The
installation work is carried out in the Group’s premises or on sites
specified by customers. The Group grants customers the right to
use the software and no update or upgrade of the software is
required to be performed by the Group after sales. The sales of
systems and software and related installation are assessed by
the management to be not distinct in the context of the
application of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (‘HKFRS 15”) as what being delivered to the
customer is a combined product with customer specifications.
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4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTANDKEY 4. EAYUE REHIAREE

102

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Critical accounting judgements in applying

M2 EERE @

(a)

ERAEEEHREZE

the Group’s accounting policies (Continued) E a2 ¥ E )
Revenue recognition (Continued) W %= 7B (@)

The Group sells large telecommunication equipment and
software that need to be installed at customers’ premises. As
management considered that the hardware installation service is
a very simple procedure the equipment can operate and function
as normal way and the customer can choose to install the
equipment by themselves or by third party service provider, the
installation service and sales of equipment are distinct in the
content of the application of HKFRS 15. Revenue from provision
of installation services is determined by management to be
recognised over time as the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs the installation service. The Group
recognises revenue in relation to the sales of telecommunication
equipment of a particular point in time (i.e. when control is
transferred to the customers).

The Group signed contracts with customers to provide
maintenance over a period of time. The customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs the maintenance service,
therefore, revenue from provision of maintenance service is
recognised over time.

Sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.
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4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTANDKEY 4. EA¥E R G FAEE
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION M2 EERFEmw
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(b) EEFTHEEM 2EERIR

Impairment allowances on financial assets (including
trade, other receivables and loan receivables)

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on internal credit
ratings as groupings of various debtors that have similar loss
patterns. The provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical
default rates taking into consideration forward-looking information
that is reasonable and supportable available without undue costs
or effort.

At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered. In addition, trade receivables with significant
balances and credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The Group determines the provision of impairment of other
receivables and loan receivables based on ECL. The Group
assesses the ECL for each of the other receivable and loan
receivable individually based on the financial position and the
economic environment in which the borrowers operate.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL of the Group’s trade receivables, other
receivables and loan receivables are disclosed in note 5.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based on
the current market price of similar products and historical
experience of distributing and selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of market condition.
Management assesses the estimations at each reporting date.

At 30 June 2020, the carrying amount of the Group’s inventories
was HK$20,721,000 (2019: HK$24,227,000).
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

5. @I A

Categories of financial instruments £ET REER
2020 2019
—RC-FF —T-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TFET
Financial assets EREE
At amortised cost 8 AR AR 131,161 109,514
Financial liabilities SRIBE
At amortised cost g XD RN 55,193 46,745
Lease liabilities HEAE 4,070 —

Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, loan receivables, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, amount due to a director and amount due to ultimate holding
company. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective

manner.
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 30 June 2020, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount
of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to trade receivables, the
management of the Group will only allow customers with good credit
history to pay on credit. In addition, the management reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account future discounted cash flows, to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the credit risk of
trade receivables is low based on the sound collection history of the
receivables and the economic environment the debtors operate.
Therefore, the ECL rate of the trade receivables is assessed to be
closed to zero and no provision was made as at 30 June 2020.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, no trade receivables has been
written off for both years.

As at 30 June 2020, the Group has exposed to credit risk on loan
receivables. The management of the Group considers the probability of
default based on the financial position of the borrowers and guarantors
and the economic environment of the borrowers operate. Therefore,
the ECL rate of the non-credit impaired loan receivables are assessed
to be closed to zero and no provision was made as at 30 June 2020.
As at 30 June 2020, the management of the Group considers the loan
receivable with credit impaired in previous years is not recoverable,
accordingly, no reversal of impairment as at 30 June 2020 was made.

5.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

106

policies (Continued)

5. R T A
BEREAREERERBE @

Credit risk (Continued) FERE &)
Movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of loan ARFEERERWERREEFGNEFHIZS RN
receivables during the year is as follows: T
Credit
impaired
EHAZE
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 July 2018 R-ZFE—NFtH—H 5,835
Currency realignment B 5, 38 & @7)
At 30 June 2019 and 1 July 2019 RZZE-NAERNA=Z1+THEK
—E—-h&FtA—H 5,808
Currency realignment B 55, 3 X (323)
At 30 June 2020 RZZEZTFA=1H 5,485
Expected credit loss rate TEHEEEEX 100%

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are
deposited with several banks with high credit ratings, the Group does
not have any other significant concentration of credit risk. Trade
receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across
diverse industries and geographical areas. The credit risk on liquid
funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level
of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of borrowings
and the compliance of loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity
for its financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. TRt T B
Financial risk management objectives and BREREERERKE @
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REE S E R @\
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted R RAEF B ERES T
amount of interest payment is estimated based on the interest rate at EREZFRGEERMBRENREE-

the end of the reporting period.

Within Total Carrying

Effective  one year or Between Between undiscounted amount at
interest rates on demand 1-2 years 2-5 years cash flows 30 June 2019
R-ZB-NF

—FRY AEBE  KA=tH

BEBRA=E BEH —E=F ZERFE  REeRAE ZREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BAY TET TET TET TET THET

2020 —E-2f
Financial liabilities SREERBHERK
at amortised cost
Trade and other payables ~ [ENEZ RAMER - 44,452 = = 44,452 44,452
Amount due to a director EN—ZEEHE - 2,180 - - 2,180 2,180
Amount due to uttimate JER AR R A 7
holding company 9.42% 9,366 - - 9,366 8,561
Liabilities at amortised cost £ f& 1% # 8% B &
Lease liabilities HERR 3.50% 2,287 1,583 353 4,223 4,070
58,285 1,583 353 60,221 59,263
2019 “E-hE
Financial liabilities SREERBHERE
at amortised cost
Trade and other payables ~ BN E S LA MEX - 39,549 - - 39,549 39,549
Amount due to a director ERN—%2EEHE - 4,180 - - 4,180 4,180
Amount due to uttimate R SEERAR
holding company 11.60% 3,366 - - 3,366 3,016
47,095 - - 47,095 46,745
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5.

108

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for
non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if changes in
variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate deposits and bank balances
at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
that the amount of balances outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding for the whole year. A 10 basis points (2019: 10
basis points) increase or decrease represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 10 basis points (2019: 10 basis points) higher
or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit
after tax for the year ended 30 June 2020 would increase or decrease
by approximately HK$95,000 (2019: profit after tax decrease or
increase by HK$83,000).

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent interest rate risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. TRt T B
Financial risk management objectives and BREREERERKE @
policies (Continued)
Foreign currency risk SN [ Bz
Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement in foreign INEERE S IES T ENEBRBEEERE
currency exchange rate which will affect the Group’s financial results B nZINEEREFHRM AEEBES
and its cash flows. Certain trade receivables and bank balances of the TREWEZESERRIBITER I A
Group are denominated in foreign currencies. The Group does not HE - REBNE W RAEMINE S h T
engage in any foreign currency hedging instruments. It is the Group’s A-AEEy—EBERRI2EBEHINE
policy to manage foreign currency risk through matching foreign WARYHEBEIERR BEEHE
currency income with expense, and where exposure to foreign mEINERRE  BERBEEZ2EH P T
exchange is anticipated, appropriate hedging instruments will be used. Ao
Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency ARRZHEWBARFENINESEZ
denominated monetary assets and liabilities, which expose the Group EEEERAG SAREEEDEINER
to foreign currency risk. & o
The carrying amounts of the group entities’ foreign currency REBRETEUIINEABEZELKEENR
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting EMEaERREBEHZEREBENT
date are as follows:
2020 2019
—EC-SE —E—-nF
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE =i BE =R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET FET
Euro B 7T 19,008 - 17,425 -
Malaysian Ringgit BEkmaasd - - 926 -
United States dollar ETT 4,215 - 3,685 -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The group entities are mainly exposed to foreign currency risk from
Euro and United States dollars. Under the pegged exchange rate
system, the financial exposure on exchange rate fluctuation between
Hong Kong dollar and United States dollars is considered insignificant
by the directors of the Company and therefore no sensitivity analysis
has been prepared.

The following table details the group entities’ sensitivity to a 5% (2019:
5%) increase and decrease in Euro against each group entity’s
functional currency. 5% (2019: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the year end for a 5% (2019: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit
before taxation where Euro strengthen 5% (2019: 5%) against each
group entity’s functional currency. For a 5% (2019: 5%) weakening of
Euro against each group entity’s functional currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the profit or loss.

5.

€@mI A

= (%)

BEREAREERERBE @

SIS L B ()
HBEE T
SEERTIEAREZIIERREKER T

RETL - EHBEEXKEIT EFTRAR
78 7T B8 55 7T BE ROK B 2 B IS L B AR O

B bt 3 4% AR B BURRE D AT ©

TRAAGAEEERBEBTASEHE
fﬁZ%%E%ZE%L%&TﬂM

T—NF 5% ZHBE 5% (=F
—NF R IREEEARANEIEE
BABREINEEAREPTRAZBEE
xR ERKREREBHIIEERSER
REEF 2T HREDITERE AN

BAHEZAGENERIRR  XRIMEE
FEHEN(ZFT—NF 5% HEFE
ZHBEELFER - AT EERERREET

REEEEBNEEETE%(ZF—
NE 1 6%) B &SRB AT AL IR
KBD - HETEEEEERBYEEN

i%ﬁts%(*?*ni-fu%) Al B
BRERREEZERTE
2020 2019
2_2F —NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET TET
Euro BT 950 871
In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative EEEBZA BARESW AL RERE
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does BINER  IHAFERERR T TR
not reflect the exposure during the year. i 2 () & f o

Fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities
The directors of the Company consider the carrying amounts of

financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. WERDEEH
INFORMATION
(a) Revenue (a) Wz
Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable for WHIEAEBRAIINABTLHE
goods sold and services provided by the Group to external EnNEEREZE W R EKRR
customers. 1g o
The revenue of the Group comprises the following: RNREB 7 WEZBIE T EIA
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Revenue from contracts with customers EHKFRSE 155 B E A 2 B P
within the scope of HKFRS 15 & # =
Technology — Sales of systems including BE—RHFHEE (BIEEH
software licensing BEEFRE) 89,410 92,961
Technology — Rendering of installation B — it X R EERS
and maintenance services 36,108 29,366
Technology — System sales including BME—ZRGHEE (BEEY
software licensing and maintenance BRETRE N M ERTE)
services 125,518 122,327
Technology — Leasing of system products &l —HE X5 E R 21,426 21,639
146,944 143,966
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT

12

| N FOR MAT'ON (Continued)

(b) Segment information

The operating segments have been identified on the basis of
internal management reports prepared in accordance with
accounting policies conforming to HKFRSs, which are regularly
reviewed by the executive directors, for the purpose of allocating
resources to segments and assessing their performance. Three
operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments are identified as follows:

e Sales of cultural
products

— includes income from trading of
cultural products

— includes income from sales of
systems including software
licensing and provision of
installation and maintenance
services

e Technology: System
sales including
software licensing
and services

e Technology: Leasing of — includes income from leasing of
system products system products

Segment results represent the profit or loss before taxation
recognised by each reportable segment, excluding interest
income, finance costs, unallocated income and expenses such
as central administration costs and directors’ salaries. This is the
measure reported to the executive directors, the chief operating
decision maker, for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance.
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|0N (Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

6. W ko EER @

(b) DEER @)

Information regarding the above segments is reported below: E it EERE2®|RMOT -

Technology
B
System sales
including
Sales of software Leasing of
cultural licensing and system
products services products Consolidated
RIRBHE
HEXt (BRE4HEF HERS
Em FERRE®) Em wma
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FA&T FAT
Year ended 30 June 2020 Bz-Z_2fF
ANAE=THLEE
REVENUE I =
External and total revenue N E R AW
Recognised at a point in time RE—HEZ#ER - 89,410 - 89,410
Recognised over time e BF e HE 3R - 36,108 21,426 57,534
- 125,518 21,426 146,944
RESULTS B
Segment result DEEE (516) 15,047 3,115 17,646
Interest income B A 2,691
Finance costs 7 755 P AR (808)
Unallocated expenses, net APBERY—F8 (18,419)
Profit before taxation B 5% A F1 08 1,110
Year ended 30 June 2019 BEZ-Z2—-Nh&
RNRAE=ZTLFE
REVENUE I =
External and total revenue N E R B
Recognised at a point in time RE—EEEER - 92,961 - 92,961
Recognised over time BiE BF ) B AR - 29,366 21,639 51,005
- 122,327 21,639 143,966
RESULTS 3
Segment result DEER (1,035) 13,243 2,915 15,123
Interest income FLEMA 1,150
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries  H & [t B A 7 2 W 2% 109
Finance costs B 75 B AR (249)
Unallocated expenses, net ADBERY—F5 (14,340)
Profit before taxation B B A F1) R 1,793
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

6. WEKRDTEER @

b) 7EER @

Technology
B
System sales
including
Sales of software Leasing of
cultural licensing and system
products services products Consolidated
REHE
HEXL (BRE4E HERS
Em TERE®) Em wa
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAT FAT
Year ended 30 June 2020 BE-—ZE_-_ZH
ANAZTHLEEE
Amounts included in the FFARTE N RN K
measure of segment profit or BB 2 &%
loss:
Depreciation of property, plant % - B & &
and equipment 2 e 21 6,775 610 7,406
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEEZINE
assets - 1,570 275 1,845
Impairment losses recognised Bt 1F S Ff i 32
for inventories B &R 22 - - 22
Year ended 30 June 2019 BEz-_ZE—-h&F
RA=ZTHLEEE
Amounts included in FTAGTE D R K
the measure of segment profit — E51#E 2 £ %8 :
or loss:
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #72 - &= & &% &
and equipment e 63 6,062 510 6,635

No information about segment assets and liabilities is presented
as such information is not regularly provided to the chief
operating decision maker for resource allocation and

performance assessment purposes.

14
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(c) Geographical information

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and non-current assets by location of customers and by location
of assets respectively:

(c) HEE R

6. WEKRDTEER @

AEEDHREPREEMER
oz WaEMIERBDEEDTH

SR T

Revenue Non-current assets
g &= FRBEE
Year ended 30 June As at 30 June
BEAA=THLEE RAB=+H
2020 2019 2020 2019
—e-%F _—T NF =B-BF T NF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FHET THET FHET
People’s Republic of China & 2 A R £ #1
(the “PRC"), including (@ B2
Hong Kong and Macau & KR P = - 2 26
Europe (mainly United BN (EZERE
Kingdom (“UK”) and (B REE)
Germany) 146,944 143,966 31,809 28,640
146,944 143,966 31,811 28,666

(d) Information about major customer

Revenue from customer of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% of the total sales of the Group is as follows:

d EBEEFZEH

REEFEEAEEHERTER
BI0% 2B P WmNT

2020 2019

—E_EH —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Customer A Z2EA 27,310 15,152

Customer A contributed revenue from system sales including
software licensing and services.

EPAMFLEGHEE(BREME
RN IRTS) W B R o
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7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS ANDLOSSES 7. Hlh A - WBZzREE

2020 2019

—E-EF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FAETT

Interest income IBSSLON 2,691 1,150
Exchange loss, net &N 18558 (398) (727)
Others Hih 3,636 2,984
5,929 3,407

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MM

2020 2019

—Eo=E —E-hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAET

Interest on amount due to ultimate JEN&EERAFZFE

holding company 652 249
Interest on leases HEZFE 156 -
808 249
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9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. BR% A& R
2020 2019
—E-ZF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FiET
Profit before taxation has been Fr % B A 2 FBR -
arrived at after charging:
Directors’ remuneration (note 10(a)) BEH 2 (MsE100@) 840 840
Staff costs excluding directors’ remuneration EEXA(TBEESHE) 66,624 72,146
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRIEFET B H R (EERRIN
other than directors (note 27) (B 5E27) 10,482 2,149
Total staff costs B B AN 42 %R 77,946 75,135
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment,  ¥1%¥ - E RBE 2T E
included in general and administrative expenses (5t A —#8 R1TH X HA)
(note 15) (MI&E15) 7,406 6,635
Depreciation of right-of-use assets included in BRAEEEZTE GFA—R
general and administrative expenses (note 16) AT A) (FiE16) 1,845 -
Short-term lease payment EHEEE MR 3,217 -
Auditor’s remuneration 2% BEM B & 1,512 2,004
Cost of inventories recognised as expense ERRBAITH ZFERAK 60,704 59,679
Minimum lease payments paid under operating IZRBEEHEC Nz HEKHE
leases in respect of: NFERE:
Rented premises HEWZE = 2,854
Motor vehicles B = 1,177
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

—E-TF,A=F+H 30 JUNE 2020

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION,
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors and chief executive’s
remuneration

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefit of Directors)
Regulation are as follows:

Year ended 30 June 2020

10.

EEME BEEHAL
KREEBEBAEBZHE

() EERITHARZHME

BIEE B QA& H F383(1) Kk &
REI(BEESFEER RAE
o FHESEME 2 EREED

Performance Retirement

Salaries related benefit Total
and other incentive scheme directors’
Fees benefits payments contributions emoluments
ek BRIEXRR BIREF EEME
e HMERN Bhz®s &R k]
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT THER THET THERT TERT
(note (i))
(BREE())
Executive directors HITES
Ms. Wong Man Winny =E 7L - - - - -
Mr. Liu Ka Lim BEREE = = - - -
Non-executive director FBITES
Ms. To Yin Fong Cecilica MHE L+ 480 - - - 480
Independent non-executive directors BIFHTES
Mr. Leung Man Fai RNBEE 120 - - - 120
Ms. Chung Sau Wai Ada BEGLLT 120 - - - 120
Mr. Clayton Ip ERIERE 120 - - - 120
840 = = = 840
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

—ZE-FTF;NA=+H 30JUNE 2020

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION, 10.EEME -BEFAL
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST FEEEEAEZME
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR 0

MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

(a) Directors and chief executive’s (@) EBRITHRAEAZRZH S
remuneration (Continued) (%)
Year ended 30 June 2019 BE-_ZT-AFXA=Z1+THLHF
E

Performance Retirement

Salaries related benefit Total

and other incentive scheme directors’

Fees  benefits payments  contributions  emoluments
ek RBRIERR R RAE T Yk

e HMEMN Bms®e BEETA wE

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TERL TAT TAT TAT

(note (i)
(BFEE®)
Executive directors HITES
Ms. Wong Man Winny BT - - - - -
Mr. Liu Ka Lim BRRLE - - - - _
Non-executive director FBITES
Ms. To Yin Fong Cecilica HHE L+ 480 - - _ 480
Independent non-executive directors BYFHTES
Mr. Leung Man Fai PR 120 - - _ 120
Ms. Chung Sau Wai Ada EREGEL L 120 — _ _ 120
Mr. Clayton Ip BIRIESE 120 - - - 120
840 - - - 840
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

—E-TF,A=F+H 30 JUNE 2020

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION,
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

(a) Directors and chief executive’s
remuneration (Continued)

Notes:

0] The performance related incentive payment is discretionary as
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company having
regard to the Group’s financial results and the performance of the
directors of the Company.

(ii) During both years, no emolument was paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or retirement from employment with the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for the
executive directors and non-executive directors are generally
emoluments paid or receivable in respect of those persons’ other
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

120 KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020

10.EEME  &E5H AL
KREEBEBAEBZHE

(@ EERTHRAS 2 E

(#)
B -

) RIERRERZRZSBHB T
B mARBZHEMEE GRS
WREAKEMBEEARANEE
ETEREMET -

(i) PREFESE AEEHERT
MEELAME  EABMARSE
B R MAREE R ZE SR E
R SRR -

FAATEETRIFNTEFTI N
BTz¥He ERBAEVEN R
BURZEATRHEEEEARQA
REWMBRARZEBRERZEM
Rz B EUWE -



fre S R M aE ()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

—ZE-FTF;NA=+H 30JUNE 2020

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION,

10.EEME  E5H AL

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST FEEBEBABZHME
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR (&)
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)
(b) Employees with highest emoluments b) EEHEE
The five highest paid individuals of the Group do not include any AEBREReHATILRER

(2019: Nil) director of the Company. The aggregate emoluments
of the five (2019: five) highest paid employees of the Group, not
being directors of the Company, are as follows:

B(ZE-NF:2B)ARAE
- AEEEHBAAR(ZFE A
F RAB)ESFHREE (UFEARA

B )zMemmmT
2020 2019
—EEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FAET
Salaries and other benefits HeREMET 4,690 6,635
Performance related incentive payments BIERREHR 2 RS 2,402 792
Retirement benefit scheme contributions ERAEFFT B R 429 618
7,521 8,045

Emoluments of five (2019: five) employees were within the
following bands:

ER(ZE-NF: ER)EE 2
ENFTIEE:

Number of employees

EEAH
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-hnF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
HK$1,000,000-HK$1,500,000 1,000,000 7£-1,500,000% 7T 3 1
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7£-2,000,000 7% 7T 2 4

There were no amounts paid during the year (2019: Nil) to the
five highest paid employees in connection with their retirement
from employment with the Group, or inducement to join.

FA AEEBERNTIEARSHA
THEASEZEMEFREHM
ARBMIARBB(ZFE-NEF:
&) -

EEsEEARAT —s-s558 121



e P BHRRNE

(48

NE=

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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11.

12

122

GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 8 January 2019, the Group disposed of its entire interest in Bliss
Ease Limited and Skill King Holdings Limited to its ultimate holding
company, Champion Technology Holdings Limited for a cash
consideration of HK$258,000 fully satisfied by cash.

As at 8 January 2019, the carrying amount of net assets disposed of
amounted to HK$149,000, mainly representing bank balances and
cash of HK$7,000, other receivables of HK$821,000 and other
payables of HK$679,000. The net gain on disposal amounted to
HK$109,000.

11.

HE B LRz Was

RZZE-—NF—ANA BHEFEE
2 BR T {E A& 149,000 7T © £ B AR 1T
% 5% 23R £ 7,000 T - FE U E b BR 3K
821,000 Jr & JiE 1~ H b 51 18 679,000/5
JC o B 2 F W A 109,000 IT ©

INCOME TAX 12. FT 188
2020 2019
—B-BF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FET
Current tax; B HARE 18 -
— Germany corporate income tax —REEMREH 329 405
— Malaysia corporate income tax —SRAREEMSH 150 10
479 415
Overprovision in prior years: BAEFE CHBEEE -
— UK corporate income tax credit —REDEMSHER (3,244) (1,059)
Income tax credit Fristi & & (2,765) (644)

UK corporate income tax is calculated at 19% (2019: 19%) on the
estimated assessable profit derived from UK.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Germany, the Group is subject
to corporate income tax at 15% (2019: 15%) on the estimated
assessable profit of the subsidiary which carried on business in
Germany.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Malaysia, the Group is subject
to corporate income tax at 24% (2019: 24%) on the estimated
assessable profit of the subsidiary which carried on business in
Malaysia.
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12 INCOME TAX (Continued)

13

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on the
estimated assessable profits derived from Hong Kong. There is no
estimated assessable profit for Hong Kong Profits Tax for both years.

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

12. FR 8 )

EBFNERDBUNRE BB 2 A ERH
AL 16.5% (ZFE—LF 1 16.5%) 2 i
RAE - RMERN REBFBHRIY &

HETERTOEN -

AEEZzHRARGABEAM2EK
SR ZBHANGEMERAOT

2020 2019
—EZEF —T-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FE& T
Profit before taxation B 4 AT & 1,110 1,793
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of BREBFEHEI65%(ZF—NLF
16.5% (2019: 16.5%) 16.5%) st & 2 T IH 183 296
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries A E fib 5)0& 1 [& & 2 2 M B A 7
operating in other jurisdiction AR R R 523 (172)
Tax effect of profit not subject to tax or REMEEMEBAEARMLER R
exempted in other jurisdiction R RN 2 R 2 (184) (207)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible BEANRRBENNBR2AZ 2
for tax purposes M E 467 331
Utilisation of tax loss previously not PHBERERCHRIEBEESIRE
recognised (510) (1,428)
Over-provision in respect of prior years HBEAFEEHENBHEEE (3,244) (1,059
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERRBEB BB TE - 1,595
Income tax credit for the year FRNMEHRER (2,765) (644)

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 30 June
2020 nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of reporting

period (2019: Nil).

13. R B

BE_Z-_ZTFXNA=1THILFE I
AEBHEFRRETARE  BRED

TREETAEZEZRZEEMBE(ZF—
NEF ) -
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to the owners of
the Company is based on the following data:

14. 3R EF

ARBHEEAREZERERRFNTIR
BETIERGE

2020 2019

—EZEF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET T T

Profit for the year N F E i A 3,875 2,437

’000 000

Number of ordinary shares ZiARAR (72 H T T A&
Weighted average number of ordinary SEEREARENZ TR

shares for the purpose of basic MmEFEHH
earnings per share 199,632 197,308

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 30 June 2020 and 30
June 2019 were the same as the basic earnings per share as there
were no potential ordinary shares outstanding during both years.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. 9% BERRE

Plant and

machinery

and

Land and communications
buildings networks Total

WE - #e
T RIEF RBERE =
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FAET FAET FET

Cost RA{E

At 1 July 2018 RZFE—NF+H—H 15,184 282,215 297,399
Currency realignment e 5 A% (491) (12,049) (12,540)
Additions NE - 6,692 6,692
Written-off i - (283) (283)
At 30 June 2019 R_T-AFAA=1H 14,693 276,575 291,268
Currency realignment B 5, B (502) (9,392 (9,894)
Additions NE - 8,208 8,208
Disposal & - (2,227) (2,227)
At 30 June 2020 RZZE_ZTFA=1H 14,191 273,164 287,355
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

15. ¥ BERRZRE@

Plant and
machinery
and
Land and communications
buildings networks Total
W - #es
THREF RREERE &5t
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FAET FAT FAET
Depreciation and impairment ITEERE
At 1 July 2018 RZZE—-N\F+tHA—AH 4,271 263,197 267,468
Currency realignment VE W32 (223) (10,995) (11,218)
Provided for the year FNEAE 32 6,603 6,635
Eliminated on written-off H & B il R - (283) (283)
At 30 June 2019 R-Z—AFANA=TH 4,080 258,522 262,602
Currency realignment sl (145) (8,756) (8,901)
Provided for the year FRNEE 410 6,996 7,406
Disposal E - (1,673) (1,673)
At 30 June 2020 R-—Z-2EXA=+A 4,345 255,089 259,434
Carrying values BREE
At 30 June 2020 RZE_FEFNA=+H 9,846 18,075 27,921
At 30 June 2019 R-ZE—hAEA=1H 10,613 18,053 28,666
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FAET
The carrying values of the Group’s REBEZEEREEE
property interests comprise: B
Freehold properties held outside B AN R A KA
Hong Kong ERZME 9,846 10,590
Properties held outside Hong Kong REB AN R 8 K H
under long leases (note) 24z E (M) = 23
9,846 10,613
Note: Owner-occupied leasehold land is included in property, plant and equipment e AR T REFR D T a D -

as the allocations between the land and buildings elements cannot be made

reliably.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16

(Continued)

The Group leased equipment to customers on operating lease terms.
As at 30 June 2020, the carrying value of such equipment, which was
included in plant and machinery and communications networks,
amounted to HK$244,000 (2019: HK$253,000).

As at 30 June 2020, property, plant and equipment of the Group with
aggregate carrying amounts of HK$9,846,000 (2019: HK$10,590,000)
have been pledged as collaterals for the defined benefit retirement
scheme of certain subsidiaries operated in UK.

15. ¥ BERRZRE@

AEERKEHEFABERBTER
F-R-ZE-TEXA=Z1+H @R
& 2 B ™ {E244,0008 T (= F — nfﬁ
253,000 L) BT AHE - #E KB
WA o

RZEZZTFEXA=Z+AH AEEZ 4
ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁwwooo%n(—?fni
10,590,000 7T) 2 % - BERFEE
WERIEAETHRERLEENETHE
NAEIKEEEFRAR B MIEARR -

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. EAEEE
Land and
buildings Motor vehicle Total
T RIETF RE B
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
FAET FAT FAET
Carrying amount RESHE
At 1 July 2019 R-ZE—-hEttHA—H 1,886 1,623 3,509
Additions NE - 2,353 2,353
Depreciation expense WEER (745) (1,100) (1,845)
Exchange adjustments [E 5 2 (51) (76) (127)
At 30 June 2020 R-ZBE-_FBEEXNA=1+H 1,090 2,800 3,890
Expense relating to short-term leases REHHEENEMAENE
and other leases with lease term B-HEHEEREERE
ended within 12 months of the date ~ FAHKFRS 55165k 2 A #£
of initial application of HKFRS 16 128 RNER 2,616 601 3,217
Total cash outflow for leases HERE KL E5E 3,471 1,769 5,240

For both years, the Group lease various offices and motor vehicles for
its operations. Lease contracts are entered into fixed term of 1 to 8
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of difference terms and conditions.

MEME FEEHEHESERIZTMTEIN

ETRE HEARNETHRB/1E8F -

&R FGE AR 4% (8 B
= RBERGRAGMS -

B I R By - Hop
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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17. DEVELOPMENT COSTS FOR SYSTEMS 17. &% R 49 4% B3 3 B A<

AND NETWORKS

2020 2019
—RC-EF —T-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Cost R A
At the beginning of the year F 4] - 4,641,101
Written-off i 8 = (4,641,101)
At the end of the year Fa = -
Amortisation and impairment e RORE
At the beginning of the year F 4] - 4,641,101
Written-off 8 = (4,641,101)
At the end of the year F i - -
Carrying value REE
At the end of the year F ik = -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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17. DEVELOPMENT COSTS FOR SYSTEMS 17. Z & R @& B & K A =)

AN D N ETWO R KS (Continued)

Development costs for systems and networks include all direct costs
incurred in setting up and development of systems and networks.

In prior years, the directors of the Company reassessed the market
conditions in Asia Pacific region for the Group’s systems and networks
and considered that they were worse than previously expected.
Further, no revenue in Asia Pacific region was generated from the
system sales including software licensing and services segment
business. Management conducted an impairment review of the Group’s
system sales including software licensing and services segment
business in Asia Pacific region. The impairment assessment took into
account the fact that no further development costs would be provided
by the Group for that segment after granting the independent third
parties non-executive rights to exploit and use the design of certain of
the Group’s developed systems and networks during the year ended
30 June 2016. The recoverable amount based on the value in use was
estimated as zero and accordingly, full impairment loss of
HK$14,650,000 was recognised in profit or loss in prior years.

As at 30 June 2019, the management of the Group considered the
zero recoverable amount of the development costs for systems and
networks was appropriate and no reversal of impairment was
considered necessary. As at 30 June 2019, the fully amortised and
impaired development costs for systems and networks were written off.

AR RERERANERRIIAER
BRBRZMBEERERAR

REEFE RARREFENFELE
ERELEERERAMREZTR BE
BBERMEE - I ZREE (B
BHRHFRERE) P EEBAERD
ApEEEEAKRGD ERBHAEHE
REAMRZZGHEE(BRAMGER
BRRE) P BERBETRERR - RE
HEEFERBE-_T-RFARAA=T
HIEFERTBILE=TFBREN N
RERRBENDAKECRAEZZGR
MRk AEESTERZ Y HE
—TREMERRN - AEREEFEZ
AREEREGFRET B2 EE
114,650,000 TENBEFE 2B R

e

RZZE-NAFERA=+H FrEEER
BRARAGRBHEAZBRAN AR DE
BRTEDEEE AHBABERE R
TE-AFARAAZTH BErE#HEN
BB ZR N BERERD M -
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18. INVENTORIES 18. 7 &

2020 2019
—E_TF ZENF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTERT TET
Raw materials 8,464 7,17
Work in progress 2,056 6,352
Finished goods (notes) 25K @ (FF3E) 10,201 10,758
20,721 24,227

Notes: Bt 5t
(0] Included in finished goods are cultural products (including precious stone and [0) BN AEERAFERBREABEEETR

artifacts) of HK$4,014,000 (2019: HK$4,187,000) which are held for trading

and resale in the ordinary course of business.

(i) As at 30 June 2020 and 2019, all cultural products of the Group were stored in
a warehouse run by a world-renowned security company, which is an

independent third party to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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18 INVENTORIES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2018, the Group engaged GEM Appraisal Center of Peking
University (b1t AEAEFEF L) (the “Appraisal Center’) to conduct a
scientific examination for 139 pieces of cultural products regarding their grading
and classification. The management of the Group arranged the valuer, 1t
B EBERIHARLAT (ERHTERZERE"), to reassess the market values of
all 143 pieces of cultural products as at 30 June 2018 based on the findings of
a team of cultural product and jewellery expert (“Experts”) from “China Cultural
Heritage Information and Consulting Centre” led by Ms. YANG Zhen Hua (5 = 2&)
and the Appraisal Center concerning the grading and classification of 4 pieces
and 139 pieces of the cultural products respectively. Based on the result of the
final authentication report and evaluation report for the valuation of the cultural
products as at 30 June 2018, the management of the Group determined that
their net realisable values were below their costs by HK$3,374,723,000.

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2019, the Group engaged the valuer, 1t R Z2{Z to assess
the current market values of all 143 pieces of cultural products as at 30 June
2019 based on the finding of the Experts and the Appraisal Centre concerning
the grading and classification of 4 pieces and 139 pieces of the cultural
products respectively. There is no significant change to the market value of the
cultural products during the year ended 30 June 2019. As a result, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, no further impairment loss or reversal
of impairment is considered necessary for the year ended 30 June 2019.

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2020, the Group engaged the valuer, 1t R 7= {5 to assess
the current market values of all 143 pieces of cultural products as at 30 June
2020 based on the finding of the Experts and the Appraisal Centre concerning
the grading and classification of the cultural products and the current condition
of the cultural products. Based on the valuation of the cultural products as at
30 June 2020 by 1t = EIZ1E, the management of the Group determined
that their net realisable values were below their carrying amounts as of 30 June
2020 and the shortfalls resulted in further impairment loss of HK$22,000 for the
year ended 30 June 2020.

The directors of the Company were of the view that, with the detailed exercise
performed by the Appraisal Center and the valuer, the carrying amount net of
impairment recognised so far, reflected in the consolidated financial statements,
was the best estimate of the recoverable amount of the cultural products.

18. & )

BeE - (&)

(i)

REBEEE-_FT-N\FNA=ZTHILFE
ZIREMBHREMES  AEBDEFILR
tRBEREFPO(EEPRL]) B 1391
MIEEROTFRRDEETRBEE K
CSEEEEERHEEMIEATREEE
BEEERAR(ERTRAERE]) R —
BamEEL T XENREPEXYE
BEARLIZXIEERREAEREK
(TER) RETH LD B B4 R 13914 %
7X1KEDDZDDLL&/\*EZ§§EE‘iﬁﬂi\
B4 ILEGR =TS —N\FA=F
AZHARMEEAE RZT—N\FA=
TH BREHVERGEENRKEZR
HERABRE AKEEEEATHEAE
B FE R R %5 5K 4 3,374,723,0007 7T ©

REEBE_T-NFAAZTHIEFE
FEMBHREME  AEBEDEFGHE
MR EE EERERREEFT LD A
HAU K1 ZEXILEMZ MU R D
B BE A2 XEEMR =
—NFRAZ+TBZERTHEER R
T -AFARA=TAH XtEERHTE
WESESAXEH BAlt RZFT—ILFA
STEILEFE ARAEETAREFIEHE
—HRMER B B O (E -

REEBE-_T-_ZFA=THILFE
ZEEMBRENE AEBEDEFRHE
Mt RTREREERERRERRETP LY
ZEXLEMZBURSBEZER UK
ERFAMR - s 2 H143 4 EE @R
—E-EFRNAZTBZEEMSEE-
BELETREER=_Z=-FF A=+
HYXtEMNGLE ~AESEEEERTE
EXfrEROZERFERRER T
THEAA=ZtTENEREE BB _F=
TFENA=ZTHILEFEE-—PREEXA
22,000/ T °

ARBEERR  KEEPORMEELE
THAMAR REAMBRERRRZA
B NER B HERBE 2 REE R XL E R
WESEZREGRE -
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19.

132

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

10. EWWE 5 K HMERF

2020 2019

—BC-EHE —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THEx FET

Trade receivables (note) JiE U 2 5 B 3k (BT %) 14,299 22,889
Other receivables JRE Ui HL h B K 7,023 2,268
21,322 25,157

Note:

The Group maintains a well-defined credit policy regarding its trade customers
depending on their credit worthiness, nature of services and products, industry
practice and condition of the market with credit period ranging from 30 days to 180
days.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (after impairment allowance) presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Bi&E

AEEREBZEPETHMZEERE - RIE
REZER RBERERIEE TARBRD
SREAMGETEFNFIOBEIBHZEEY-

RWE 5 ERORERFR) RRE D TERRE
BHEARZHREDTENNT -

2020 2019

—E-EF —E-NF

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FHET

0-60 days 0-60 H 10,753 18,811
61-90 days 61-90 A 3,180 3,453
91-180 days 91-180 H 366 625
14,299 22,889

Before accepting any new customer, the Group’s finance and sales management team
would assess the potential customer’s credit worthiness and define credit limits
accordingly for the customers. Credit limits attributable to customers are reviewed
regularly with reference to past settlement history and where appropriate, information
about their current reputation. The Group’s finance and sales management team
considers trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired to be of a good
credit quality as continuous repayments have been received.
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Note: (Continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually nor collectively
considered to be impaired are as follows:

10. ERE S R EMERR @)

BeE : ()

BRI HREE AT EREBKE S ERZE
BT

2020 2019

—EZEF —T-hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx FHET

Neither past due nor impaired BE % 780 B 71 K OR(E 14,299 21,756
Less than 1 month past due wE R —1E A 853
1 to 3 months past due BEH—Z=={@A 280
- 1,133

14,299 22,889

20. LOAN RECEIVABLES 20. EWE R

2020 2019

—E-BF ZE-NEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TERT FHET

Loan receivables JE WU B 3R 19,965 5,808
Less: provision for impairment losses W ET IR EEE (5,485) (5,808)
14,480 -

As at 30 June 2020, loan receivables (net of ECL) of HK$14,480,000
(2019: Nil) were due from five borrowers (2019: a borrower), unsecured
and with personal guarantee. All the loan receivables are denominated
in Renminbi (‘RMB”). The loan receivables carry fixed interest rates
ranging from 10% to 16% (2019: 10%) per annum with maturity date
within 12 months from the loan draw down date. Up to the date of this
report, HK$14,480,000 was received by the Group.

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(a) The cash and cash equivalents comprise short-term deposits
with maturity of three months or less and cash held by the
Group.

Certain bank balances and cash of HK$661,000 (2019:
HK$14,798,000) were denominated in RMB, which is not freely
convertible currency in the international market. The remittance
of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions
imposed by the Government of the PRC.

MRZE_EEXA=1+H EUWAELE
RAZE—NF: —BERA)NER
(MBRTEH{EEEE) 514,480,000/ 7T
(ZE2E—NF:8) ZEBERAERR
FEBMAER FIEERKREFHUAR
MIAREDAE - BREZNEEF
FEBI0%ZE16% (ZF—J11:10%) -
FHAAERERNBHEN T —EA
e BHEAREBE  AEBEE WE XK
18 14,480,000 % 7T

21. BERBREEH

(@ BeRBELEZELEIBA A=
EAIKKNAZEMEREAEE
REZHE -

% 8661,0008 (=T — N F:
14,798,000 7t ) 2 & T R 17 4 8
EBETIAAREBEE MARKE
WHETRBEBEMSEmELBRZE
BomHPHELZEESAZTH
BT & e 2 HINEE B B FTAR IR o
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21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

1. BERBEEHE @

(b) ERMEFBRMELEREN

financing activities HER
The table below shows the detailed changes in the Group’s TEREWAEEBEREEHTE
major liabilities arising from financing activities, including both EXFEZaENEE(BERE LIE
cash and non-cash changes. W EHE) FIE o
Amount due  Amount due to
to a director ultimate holding Lease
(note 26) company liabilities Total
EBf—A
EENE B BRE
(Bff £ 26) ERAAE HEAE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FE T FET FHET F&ET
At 1 July 2018 R=-ZZ-NEtHA—H 4,180 - - 4,180
Financing cash flow: BRERSRE:
Loan from ultimate holding company BEERARHER - 3,500 - 3,500
Repayment to ultimate holding company EIB SRR AT - (733) - (733)
- 2,767 - 2,767
Finance costs: R 35 %:N
Interest expenses F B 7 H - 249 - 249
At 30 June 2019 R-ZE-hFEXA=+A 4,180 3,016 - 7,196
Adjustment upon application of HKFRS 16 #2 ## HKFRS 16 & H 7 2 - - 3,718 3,718
At 1 July 2019 R=—Z—AEtA—H 4,180 3,016 3,718 10,914
Financing cash flow: MERSRE:
Loan from ultimate holding company SR NGRS - 4,893 - 4,893
Repayment to a director BE—RZEEHE (2,000) - - (2,000
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEARE - - (2,023) (2,023)
(2,000) 4,893 (2,023) 870
New leases entered EAFHE - - 2,353 2,353
Currency realignment & H % - - (134) (134)
Finance costs: B A& AR 2N -
Interest expenses F B EH - 652 156 808
At 30 June 2020 R-B-ZEFXA=1+AH 2,180 8,561 4,070 14,811
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2. ENEFREMIRMN

2020 2019

—ECEF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FAET

Trade payables JEIE 5 BRN 5,933 3,954
Other payables JE 1+ H fh BR 3R 38,519 35,593
44,452 39,547

The aging analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

ENESEFANBERTEFRERR

HEIZRREDIT25I T

2020 2019

—¥=%F —T AF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHR FHT

0-60 days 0-60 H 5,933 3,954

The credit period for purchases of goods ranged from 30 days to 60
days.

BEERZEEHNFI0HZE60AH -
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23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23. 6N EE
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Receipts in advance from customers for IR R 2 B B B 08
provision of services 22,096 21,587
Movements in contract liabilities SHEBEET
2020 2019
T-F —TANF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
THET FHET
At 1 July W+t A—H 21,587 21,034
Currency realignment i 5, 3 & (753) (920)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result IREREEWRIAEmMER
of billing in advance of provision of AdBaEEm
services 22,483 22,062
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result RENERTAFYELARE
of recognising revenue during the year MkammEBEHRENEaERD
that was included in contract liabilities
at the beginning of the year (21,221) (20,589)
At 30 June RANA=1+H 22,096 21,587
All the amount of billings in advance of performance as at 30 June RZZEZTFRA= CHBERAZ
2020 are expected to be recognised as revenue within one year. BHAZIBEARN —FERN ﬁ& 2B A

As at 30 June 2020, the aggregated amount of the transaction price
allocated to the remaining performance obligations under the Group’s
existing contracts is HK$21,425,000 (2019: HK$23,458,000). These
amount would be recognised as revenue when the services are
provided by the Group over the life of the contracts to the customers,
which is expected to occur over the next three years.
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24. LEASE LIABILITIES 24.FHEEE
2020
—EEF
HK$’000
THExT
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEaE:
Within one year —FR 2,177
Within a period of more than one year —F A HET BB F
but not more than two years 1,546
Within a period of more than two years FIA FET BB RF
but not more than five years 347
4,070
Less: Amounts due for settlement within BmBBEBETETNEI2EA AR H
12 months shown under current liabilities BERRIEAE (2,177)
Amounts due for settlement after SERBAMGEIE TER121E A % 2 B
12 months shown under non-current liabilities BENFIE 1,893
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25. WARRANTY PROVISION 25. RERE
2020 2019
—E-EH —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT T
At 1 July “+A—A 1,347 1,236
Currency realignment [ H A% (19) (34)
(Utilised)/provided during the year FR(ER) BE (98) 145
At 30 June RNXA=1+H 1,230 1,347

The warranty provision represents the management’s best estimate of
the Group’s liability under 12-month warranties granted on system
products, based on prior experience and industry average for defective
products.

REREHEEEERBEBELBNIER
HEBRREMIIEREME s THK
A REmYASEE EAE
1 Z B AE AT

26. AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR 26. B —BEENE
The amount due to a director of the Company is unsecured, non- FENAANG —RBESEZBEBEEMR T
interest bearing, has no fixed term of repayment and is repayable on HE EETESHRNLEIREKEE
demand.
As at 30 June 2020, such director of the Company held 13.59% (2019: RZEZZEFRNA=1TH ' Z4ARQa
9.23%) of the issued share capital of Champion. EEE AT E1359% (- F — h &
9.23%) 2 B AT AN o
27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 27. R K18 F 51 8l
2020 2019
ZE-EF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TH&T FET
Retirement benefit contributions to the MAEEz FEERTEZ A
Group’s defined contribution scheme R RE N R 1,206 1,196
Retirement benefit contributions to the MAEEZ EEBFEX A
Group’s defined benefit scheme ZRRE TR 9,276 953
10,482 2,149
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES R KR F 5t 8l

(Continued)

(a) Defined contribution scheme (a) EEM S
Certain subsidiaries of the Company participate in a retirement ARAIETETHERAR /LD
benefit scheme covering a portion of their employees. The assets 18 8 s L R INE A st 8l o kB AT E
of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in LRERAKEBIZAENHARA
funds under the control of independent trustees. VT HERBBLIZEAENZES
A o
Commenced from December 2000, the Group enrolled all eligible B-TETEFT AR AKER
employees in Hong Kong into a mandatory provident fund (the EREBEBZHMAESEREESM
“MPF”) scheme. The retirement benefit cost of the MPF scheme BErouERGE B ((RER])
charged to the profit or loss represents contributions to the MPF AEl-REENRZRESFEIR
scheme by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the MPF KB AIE AR E B IZRE R
scheme. ERABE L EHBEEETE
fEH Z 5K -
The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are FEBRRTPEZHBEAREER
members of government-managed retirement benefit scheme FREEMTBFERZBEE R
operated by the respective local government in the PRC. The LW BREEXE - KEEELIE
Group is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll BoOLZ TEKARRZRKE
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The ﬂ SPEIER 5K R FERAIER M
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit Bg o FHEERRDAEEZ
scheme is to make the specified contributions. IRARAE R R8I 2 ME —AHE o
During the year, the total expense recognised in consolidated FA REAEGEABRZIAX
statement of the profit or loss amounted to HK$1,206,000 (2019: #£1,206,0008 7T( = F — fL F:
HK$1,196,000) and represents contributions payable to these 1,196,000/ 7T) B AN B % F &t
schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the BRAREZ LR EMELZ
schemes. FERF R -
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

140

(Continued)

(b) Defined benefit scheme

Certain subsidiaries of the Company in UK operate a
administered and funded pension scheme in the UK. The scheme
provides defined pension benefits with reference to the final
salary of the members at retirement and their length of service.
The scheme was closed to new members since 1 January 2003.

The contributions which are determined by a qualified actuary on
the basis of triennial valuations using the projected unit credit
method are charged to the profit or loss. Under the scheme, the
employees are entitled to a pension between 1.67% and 2.50%
of final salary for each year of pensionable service at an age of
65. No other post-retirement benefits are provided. The most
recent actuarial valuations of scheme assets and the present
value of the defined benefit obligations as at 30 June 2020 were
prepared by Buck Consultants Limited, Mrs. Rachel Downs (FIA),
Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries (“FIA”) (2019: Mrs.
Rachel Downs (FIA)), for accounting reporting purpose. The
assumptions which have the most significant effect on the results
of the valuation are those relating to the rate of return on
investments and the rates of increase in salaries, pensions and
share dividends.

The funded pension scheme exposes the Group to actuarial risks
such as investment risk, interest rate risk, longevity risk and
salary risk.
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)
(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued) (b) EEEANE @

EBIREF 8w

Investment risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated
using a discount rate determined by reference to high quality
corporate bond yields; if the return on plan asset is below this
rate, it will create a plan deficit. Currently the plan has relatively
balanced investment in equity securities, debt instruments and
real estates. Due to the long-term nature of the plan liabilities, the
trustee of the pension fund considers it appropriate that a
reasonable portion of the plan assets should be invested in equity
securities and in real estate to leverage the return generated by
the fund.

Interest risk

A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability;
however, this will be partially offset by an increase in the return
on the plan’s debt investments.

Longevity risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated
by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan
participants both during and after their employment. An increase
in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the
plan’s liability.

Salary risk
The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated
by reference to the future salaries of plan participants. As such,
an increase in the salary of the plan participants will increase the
plan’s liability.

& & B B
FTHEEMNFEIEAEZRHENIKR
BREELEBEHFWUEEXET 28
REFE MFEEECEHRER
LR B EEET B EAL o FZET
E B A EARYE FE 2 RAE?
BHRTAREHERE - ERN:TE
BECREHE  ERESZTA
REBTEEEAEBHIEER
BARFAEFEME  LWESHESH
EEZRRABEE-

A =&k
BEHFNERESEMFEEE: A
i EH%EE%%HZ%?%&QE#WE
1 P R 0 3K o

REER

TRBANFEBEZRENSR
BRI /\%Bfﬁi‘ﬁﬁ,ﬁﬁ&%ﬂé&
BT E 2 SEMETFTE - 573
2 E 7 T8 H 5 A 4 A0 #5180 At

FLRB
**E%E%U?rgwféﬁzfﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ
’Jriﬂﬂﬁﬁi%ZﬂiX%ﬁi C

CAHEIZ2EEZHS i‘buﬁji‘bu
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)
(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued) (b) EERANEE @

Salary risk (Continued) < BB (@)
ARz X E2RERZNT -

R KB R EE 0

The main actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

At 30 June 2020 At 30 June 2019
R-ZB-2F R-ZF—NF

AA=+H ANA=TH

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FTHERT FET

Discount rate BY IR & 1.50% 2.30%
Expected rate of salary increase FEHH e AE 2.45% 2.40%
Future pension increases RAGR RS FHIE 2.85% 3.25%

The actuarial valuation updated to 30 June 2020 by Mrs. Rachel
Downs (FIA) (2019: Mrs. Rachel Downs (FIA)) showed that the
market value of the scheme assets was HK$370,313,000 (2019:
HK$360,821,000) and that the actuarial value of these assets
represented 88% (2019: 93%) of the benefits that had accrued
to members.

Rachel Downs A A ( 2 B 4% & il 17
EFEE)(ZZF — LF : Rachel
Downs A K (HBIMBEM#HE &R
e B )EHE_T_TFA/=
+HZF“ﬁﬁﬁm ATElEEZ
T {E &370,313,0008 L (Z T — 1
£ : 360,821,000/ L) + % & &
EZ2REBEBEAL2HEEREBE
2 88% (=F —NEF : 93%) °

Under the recovery plan dated 31 May 2016, the Group has
agreed to contribute GBP340,000 per annum increasing at 4%

BEBHA-_ZT—-—X"FRA=T
— B2z WEE  AEEREA=

142

on each 1 July from 1 July 2018 into the plan. In addition, the
Scottish Limited Partnership for the plan has been arranged such
that the plan will receive an income stream of GBP400,000 per
annum at 1 July 2018 increasing at 4% on each 1 July thereafter.
As at 30 June 2020, the duration of the plan liability is 15 years
(2019: 16 years).
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)

B IRE R E B

(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued) (b) EHEEFETE @
Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or MTHERMERF2NEEIES
loss and other comprehensive income in respect of the defined FEMEEAWRRTER S
benefit pension plans are as follows: m
2020 2019
—EZEF —T-hHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Scheme administrative costs F&17T B A (1,200) (1,551)
Past service costs BT BRI A AN (8,603) -
Net interest income FEW ATz 527 598
Components of defined REZCHERZEERN
benefit costs recognised in profit or AR ER D (BEA— MR
loss (included in general and RATHE H)
administrative expenses) (9,276) (953)
Remeasurement of the net defined BErECEBNAaEFE
benefit liability:
Return on plan assets (excluding & & E 2 B TR
amounts included in net interest (FeEFEETAFE
expense) FY FE2E5) 25,409 25,088
Actuarial (losses)/gains arising from changes A D RREBFTE L 2
in demographic assumptions EHE (E18) W& (3,482) 7,311
Actuarial losses arising from HHBREMEEZ
changes in financial assumptions BEEE (41,269) (32,856)
Actuarial losses arising from KHARMEEXCRE
experience adjustments &8 (1,580) (425)
Components of defined benefit costs REMEE S LR
recognised in other comprehensive TE AR N B A %H&
expense =i (20,922) (882)
Total FEkE] (30,198) (1,835)
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 27. R K& F 5T &l )

(Continued)

(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued) (b)

The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial
position arising from the Group’s obligations in respect of its
defined benefit pension plans is as follows:

EEEF S @

B A B 2 5 R AE N R KA 8 A&
EMELZEHWMEFAREGMH
AR - BT

2020 2019

—B-2F —T-hEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Fair value of scheme assets EIEEZAREE 370,313 360,821
Present value of funded obligations BoRIEZIRE (421,053) (386,122)

Net liability arising from defined EREEANEAEREEZ

benefit obligation BEFE (50,740) (25,301)

The Group expects contribution of GBP367,000 (equivalent to
HK$3,518,000) will be made (2019: GBP340,000 (equivalent to
HK$3,373,000)) to the defined benefit plans during the next
financial year.

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation
are as follows:

AEEBHBERT —HERFEER
TE BB 48 F &t 8 £ 51367,000 2 £ (48
£ 38,518,000 L) (ZZF— & :
340,000 % £ ( #8 & 743,373,000 %%
JL)) e

FEEEZATEEZHNT

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TE R FAET
Opening defined benefit obligation FE X E RN AE 386,122 385,598
Currency realignment PE 5, 30 & (13,907) (16,654)
Past service costs BEIMWRBEER 8,603 -
Interest cost FE R A 8,564 10,120
Remeasurement losses: BN EEE:
Actuarial losses/(gains) arising from AOBRESEFIEE 2
changes in demographic assumptions BEEE (W) 3,482 (7,311)
Actuarial losses arising from MHBRREHEECKE
changes in financial assumptions i} 41,269 32,856
Actuarial losses arising from KEABELAZEE
experience adjustments &5 18 1,580 425
Benefits paid P15t 48 ) (14,660) (18,912)
Closing defined benefit obligation F 45T EBN A 421,053 386,122
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)
(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued) (b) EEEANE @
HEBEZDAABEANOT

27. R K E R 5T 8 )

Movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

2020 2019
—E-2F —E-AF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TERT FAET
Opening fair value of plan assets FFEBEECARAEBE 360,821 357,824
Currency realignment PE W R (12,591) (15,510)
Interest income T B WA 9,091 10,718
Scheme administrative costs FTE11T AR A (1,200) (1,551)
Return on plan assets (excluding FFEEEZRBR(TEEDR
amounts included in net interest SHAFMBSZ HFE
expense) 2 &%) 25,409 25,088
Contribution by employer B EHK 3,443 3,164
Benefits paid BT 4<F 48 ) (14,660) (18,912)
Closing fair value of plan assets FRIASEEZ AAEBE 370,313 360,821

The fair value of the scheme assets at the end of the reporting

period is analysed as follows:

HEAERBEMTEB Z AR
BEHFTWT :

2020 2019

—E-FF s

HK$°000 HK$’'000

THET FAET

Equity instruments (Quoted) BT EGRE) 240,469 236,261
Debt instruments (Quoted) E% T A GRE) 112,656 112,118
Other assets (Note) B EE (M) 17,188 12,442
370,313 360,821

The actual return on scheme assets was HK$33,300,000 (2019:

HK$34,255,000).

Note: The balance mainly represent the cash and cash equivalents.

M &1 & E 2 ' [ ) 433,300,000
BIL( — T — L4+ 34,255,000/8
JT) °

M tERITERRRERAESEE
) o
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

146

(Continued)

(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued)

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the
defined obligation are discount rate and expected salary
increase. The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on reasonably possible changes of the respective
assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while
holding all other assumptions constant.

If the discount rate is 25 basis points higher/(lower), the defined
benefit obligations would decrease by HK$16,028,000/(increase
by HK$16,028,000) (2019: decrease by HK$15,389,000/(increase
by HK$15,389,000)).

If the expected salary growth increases/(decreases) by 0.25%,
the defined benefit obligations would increase by HK$8,254,000/
(decrease by HK$8,254,000) (2019: increase by HK$6,935,000/
(decrease by HK$6,935,000)).

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be
representative of the actual change in the defined benefit
obligations as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would
occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions
may be correlated.

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the
present value of the defined benefit obligation has been
calculated using the projected unit method at the end of the
reporting period, which is the same as that applied in calculating
the defined benefit obligations liability recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in
preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020

(b)

27. R K E R 5T 8 )

EEEF S @

EERATEEZEABERRR
MRERERHFSER - ATHRE
EOMBERRSHATHERT SR
RERAEAGESHMEMRE
R TEMmMERE -

fHALIR R LAt (T k) 261E 2
TE FE & A & £ 1% 5 2> 16,028,000 %8
7T,/ (4% H116,028,0003% 7T) (= & —
FLE  E 415,389,000 JT, (45 N
15,389,000/8 7T)) °

mBHHFSEER A (T ®K)
0.25% TE 1@ F & T 1% i
8,254,000 7t/ (I3 248,254,000 7%
T (ZF—NF : 1 )06,935,000/5
7t/ OFl 6,935,000 7T) ) °
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)
(c) Forfeited contribution

With effect from 1 December 2000, the Group has also joined a
mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for its
employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates specified in
the rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions. Except for
voluntary contribution, no forfeited contribution under the MPF
Scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.

For the retirement benefits of the Group’s qualifying employees in
the UK, the Group has participated in the retirement benefits
scheme operated by the global HR benefits and human resource
consulting firm authorised and regulated by the Financial
Conduct Authority. The employees are entitled to post retirement
cash commutation. Details of the scheme are set out in note 3
and note 27(b) to the consolidated financial statements. No
forfeited contribution under UK retirement benefit Scheme is
available to reduce the contribution payable in future years.

At 30 June 2020 and 2019, there were no significant forfeited
contributions which arose upon employees leaving the schemes
before they are fully vested in the contributions and which are
available to reduce the contributions payable by the Group in the
future.

28. DEFERRED TAXATION

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately HK$59,017,000 (2019: HK$79,064,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. These tax losses
may be carried forward indefinitely.

27. R K E R 5T 8 )

(c) R

—EEEF+ R -HE - KE
BRERETERERES MEGIE
AEEAE((BESFE]) -0
TEFECREBRFERBESTE
GEHmAFIMEATESHEEER
ifft - BESFAEZEERBUR
REAZERZESRE BEAEEZ
BENHRE - REBEZE
BREMEBRESAZMBRAUTHZ
Lo R AR tE & 5T BIE 3K - AN
BEHBRESTECE—BEER
TEH R E L 2 5% - Br B B
S BE AR AR SR AE £ 58I 2R Wit
KA BIAMB AR RFERELZ

K e

ERAEEBERBZAEREER
ZERKRBHMDE AKECD 2N H
REEROTAEERREREE
ZEMANERBIEANDER
HARABEPZRKEGE - B
ERREZARNRREME -G
AENFRRRNEAMBRERM
FE 3R MEE27(b) o M AEA R 2
R KR A F B Z 02 WA SRR A A
BRI F AL Z K e

RZE_EFN_FT—NAFXA
=t+H BMERNEERHEREZHEE
BRIERNZEE ML - A A
MR ARER 2 RREHMERZ
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RBEHTERS AEEBERASHAZH
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29. CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(@) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the
changes in the Company’s individual components of equity

29, IR AR K &

(@) EaHIZ22F

AEEGARARZSHBO 2F
NEFRGEHBzERAREE
BAERBBHRA - ARARRAZ
18 51 & 2 7 F 9) & F RE & &

148

between the beginning and the end of the year are set out in IEE&H M FE34 -
note 34.
(b) Share capital (b) B
Number of
shares Amount
il - =] k-]
000 HK$'000
T FAT
Authorised share capital with par value REEAB T (T — haE:
of HK$0.1 (2019: HK$0.1) each: 0.1 TL) ZIEERA
Balance at 1 July 2018, RZZF—NFtH—H"
30 June 2019 and 30 June 2020 —E-RFARA=THK
—TETEERA=Z+THZ&ER 5,000,000 500,000

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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29. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 20. IR AR K FE @
(b) Share capital (continued) (b) B @)
Number of Share Shares Capital
shares capital premium reserve Total
RO #E BAE BROBE RBREHE st
’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T & FET FET FET FET
Issued and fully paid share capital FEREE1ETH
with par value of HK$0.1 each: ERITRHRRKRA :
Balance at 1 July 2018, RZZE—-NFE+tA—H
30 June 2019 and EZZ—hnF
1 July 2019 RNA=Z+ER
ZE-NF+tA—H
a3 197,308 19,731 795,357 966,807 1,781,895
Issue of share through placing (note) B2 & A% 7 & 2 17 89 A% 19
(B 3% 19,731 1,973 4,341 - 6,314
Share issue expenses BITRMNER - - (381) - (381)
Balance at 30 June 2020 R-B-%F
NAE=tBH#&& 217,039 21,704 799,317 966,807 1,787,828

Note: On 18 May 2020, the Company issued and placed 19,731,000 ordinary
shares of the Company at a placing price of HK$0.32 per placing share
to independent third parties, and raised gross proceeds of
approximately HK$6,314,000 to be used as general working capital of
the Group.

WaF RZFT_FTFREATNB XA

A A & ik B & IR 19 0.3278 T #Y &
TEMBIEF=FBTERET
19,731,000k R R AW @k - &
£ &S AEEX6,314,00078 T #5 A 1E
REEN—REEES -
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29. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

150

(@i

(ii)

(iii)

(c) Reserves

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed
by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in share
premium account are distributable to shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the amount arising from the
reduction of the nominal amount of the shares of the
Company (after the consolidation of 5 Ordinary shares of
HK$1 each into 1 shares in 2018) of HK$5 each by
cancelling the paid up capital to the extent of HK$4.9 each
share of the Company in 2018. The capital reserve is
available for distribution under the Companies Law of
Cayman Islands.

Translation reserve

The exchange translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 3.
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Each of the Company and Champion has a share option scheme under
which eligible persons, including directors of the Company, Champion
or any of their respective subsidiaries, may be granted options to
subscribe for shares of the Company and Champion respectively.

(@) The Company

On 30 November 2012, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “scheme”). The purpose of the Scheme was to
attract and to retain quality personnel and to provide them with
incentive to contribute to the business and operation of the
Group. Under the Scheme, the directors of the Company may
grant options to any eligible persons of the Group, including
directors, employees or consultants of the Company, its
subsidiaries or affiliates or any discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects include the aforesaid persons or a company
beneficially owned by the aforesaid persons as well as
customers, suppliers or advisers of the Group, to subscribe for
shares of the Company. An option granted is exercisable at any
time for a period determined by the directors of the Company
which should not be more than ten years from the date of grant,
where the acceptance date should not be later than 21 days
after the date of offer.

The exercise price per share (subject to adjustment as provided
therein) of the option granted under the Scheme is equal to the
highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares; (i) the closing price
per share as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business day; and (i) the
average closing price per share as stated in the daily quotation
sheet of the Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant. The maximum number of shares in
respect of which the options may be granted under the Scheme
shall not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
at the date of approval of the Scheme. The total maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options must not exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time. The number of shares
in respect of which options may be granted to any one grantee in
any 12-month period is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue on the last date of such 12-month
period, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
The Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years
commencing from 30 November 2012. No option under the
Scheme has been granted since the adoption of such scheme.

30. fs I #E 5+ &

AR LREEERABERESS &
o AEBAL(BRARA BEXRHE
BEEZEANBRABAZES) TERE
BRIEADBRB AR RBE 2D -

(@ &27H

RZFE-—ZH+—-A=1+H &R
IR —IRB RSB ([RHE)) -
AEZENERBARBEBES
AB UWERBEEFEAEEXRBER
BEFRBZAEM - RIEFE AR
AEEFTRASREEMNAERA
ITREBRE BEASRAR
AHENBARABMBARZE
F REENEMR HEMEERER
MEX@R AREERN AL 5%
HERALTEZHEZRR AR
AEEZEP HEBHFEAAR
HBERE ARBAQE RN -2
REcBREIRARBDESEMN
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 30. & AR RE 5 &8 (a)
(b) Champion (b) BE

152

On 30 November 2012, Champion adopted a share option
scheme (the “Champion option scheme”). The purpose of the
Champion Option Scheme was to attract and to retain quality
personnel and other persons and to provide them with incentive
to contribute to the business and operation of Champion and its
subsidiaries (the “Champion Group”). Under the Champion
Option Scheme, the directors of Champion might grant options
to any directors, employees or consultants of Champion, its
subsidiaries or affiliates or any discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects included the aforesaid persons or a
company beneficially owned by the aforesaid persons as well as
customers, suppliers or advisors of the Champion Group, to
subscribe for shares of Champion. An option granted by
Champion was exercisable at any time for a period determined
by the directors of Champion which should not be more than ten
years from the date of grant, where the acceptance date should
not be later than 21 days after the date of offer.

The exercise price per share (subject to adjustment as provided
therein) of the option granted under the Champion Option
Scheme is equal to the highest of () the nominal value of the
shares; (i) the closing price per share as stated in the daily
quotation sheet of the Exchange on the date of grant, which
must be a business day; and (i) the average closing price per
share as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant.
The maximum number of shares in respect of which the options
may be granted under the Champion Option Scheme shall not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of Champion at the date
of approval of the Champion Option Scheme. The total maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options must not exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of Champion from time to time. The number of
shares in respect of which options may be granted to any one
grantee in any 12-month period is not permitted to exceed 1% of
the shares of Champion in issue on the last date of such
12-month period, without prior approval from Champion’s
shareholders. The Champion Option Scheme will remain in force
for a period of 10 years commencing from 30 November 2012.
No option has been granted since the adoption of such scheme.
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31. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

32

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings, equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital, reserves and accumulated losses.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a bi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of the Company,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the new
share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had future minimum lease
payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of
rented premises and motor vehicles which fall due as follows:

M. EXEREE

REBTEEERN UEFRAEEANE
ERMEANSELETAEE AR
NEBEBRARRNZZEFERTNE
FRESEHR NEH 2 BEREE
FE—H-

AEBZERGEBHRITEERARF
HAEAEBGEEDANR  EHhEBE BT
B EE R RAER -

EEBYEENELAERB -EFRENZ
— WD BEEEEEARARERARE
AZzBBERR RIEEFZE A5H
1B B EITH IR R BB R DA BT
MEXERREGEER RFEHELERE
ZN

R2.EEHERH
AEEERREA

RBEMEREE AEEZEAERY
XEABZAUEHEKEHERBAR
REERNHEEREZIHBRET

2019
—E-NF
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles
T REF B
HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FAET
Operating leases which expire: RTHFBER 2 KEEHEE
Within one year —FR 986 2,596
In the second to fifth year EF_FEFERFNA
inclusive (BREEREMTF) 436 2,189
1,422 4,785

Leases are negotiated for terms of one to five years.

REMERZBEFIN T —FE20%F-
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32. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 32

154

(Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of land and buildings
and motor vehicles held under leases which were previously classified
as operating leases under HKAS 17. The Group has initially applied
HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the Group adjusted the opening balances at 1 July 2019 to
recognise lease liabilities relating to these leases (note 2). From 1 July
2019 onwards, future lease payments are recognised as lease liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position in accordance with
the policies set out in note 3, and the details regarding the Group’s
future lease payments are disclosed in note 24.

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group contracted with lessees in
respect of leasing of premises and certain equipment which is included
in plant and machinery and communications networks, which fall due
as follows:

—EC-EH

2020

machinery and
Land and communications

EHEZH@

AEBEEAABA @

KEBARBEHERENAE L &
EYMESERNATEA ELHAE%
AREEASTENEITREEALE
HE AEEEVERLETNERA
VA TE FAHKFRS 81657 £t 505 T+ AN
EERR-_TE—NELA—BRAEHY
EHUBEREZESHESHNHEERRE
(HFE2) e =ZFT—hFELtA—BE B
B SIS - ARBENKES
HEBRAEPHRRATEEAE B H
REBEBRRKBENKAFHE SEM T
24 I FE o

AEEEREAA

REEHER ARERERAYER
ETEFARE HERBEEGKZR
BEBPFIVAL  HIMBERNT

2019
—E-NF
Plant and
machinery and
Land and communications

Plant and

buildings networks buildings networks

G = Wi - #es

T REF REBEERE ITHRETF MiBiEE®

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FET

Within one year —FR 112 5,001 140 11,355
In the second to fifth year F_FEFERTFA

inclusive (BRERERMTF) - 4179 118 9,890

Over five years AFENE - - - -

112 9,180 258 21,245

As at 30 June 2020, the Group has service and equipment rental
contract with customers amounting to HK$37,010,000 (30 June 2019:
HK$44,703,000). As at 30 June 2020, the future income to be
generated from these contracts with an aggregate amount of
HK$32,353,000 (30 June 2019: HK$33,486,000) have been pledged
as securities for the defined benefit retirement scheme of certain
subsidiaries operated in UK.
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS BEAEAELRS

(i) During the year, the Group had the following transactions with 0] FRAEBHEEELCEIT IR
Champion: 5
2020 2019
ZB-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT THR
Nature of transactions REME
Fees paid by the Group to Champion 7N [ [A) 78, B 32 A B AR 78
for treasury services ZEHR 652 328
Fees paid by the Group to Champion REBIZK A BT E
for the provision of office premises RERAEWELRE
and facilities, and management UNREERB2ER
services, on cost basis (note) (B 7E) 2,627 2,309
Fees paid by the Group to Champion AEBRABEYXNIENE
for wages and salaries pa-9:: 1,899 3,808
Fees paid by the Group to Champion AREEMBEE L FHEN
for the consultancy services AR 7% & A 429 524
Fees paid by the Group to Champion AEBEREE X AFOFTE
for the appraisal service k7% & R = 147
Note: These transactions were carried out after negotiation between the sk ZERX R AEEHETEERBIHE
Group and Champion. The fees paid for the provision of office premises ToFIBEHBRAEMEREBE AR
and facilities, and management services. These transactions constituted EBIEREFRAXMANZER - BIE(E
continuing connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the RETRADFUAZTN TS % F
Main Board Listing Rules. However, these transactions are exempt from THBREBEBRELS BARNZE
the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listing LHREAEHHEBTFEE ZBIE
Rules as these transactions are sharing of administrative services RAEEHBITREERE B
between the Group and Champion group on a cost basis and the cost RAZA FHBE WiRATELE
are identifiable and are allocated to the group entities involved on a fair MEESBMEANEEBERNN QT
and equitable basis. IR EXGHENC(ER TR LD

FUUAZEMER 2 I -

(i)  The key management personnel are those persons holding (ii) HARTEBEAEREERENHEE X
positions with authority and responsibility for planning, directing Mgt E BN AEEE
and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, BBV AOAE  BEARESEMN
including the directors of the Company and the five highest paid hTEZ&EaH ABE TEEBEBAE
individuals. Key management personnel remuneration are as HWmT
follows:

2020 2019

—E-2F —ZE-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

Salaries and other benefits e kHEAMmREF 5,650 7,475
Performance related incentive payments 12 TEXR B 2 884 2,412 792
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R K18 | 5 2 4 3% 430 618
8,492 8,885
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
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(iii)

(iv)

On 7 December 2017, the Company (as the borrower) and Ms.
Wong Man Winny (“Ms. Wong”) (as the lender), a substantial
shareholder of Champion and a director of the Company, had
entered into a facility agreement pursuant to which Ms. Wong
agreed to lend the Company up to HK$4,180,000 in aggregate
principle amount which was unsecured, non-interest bearing and
had no fixed term of repayment and was repayable on demand
(note 26). During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group had
settled HK$2,000,000 to Ms. Wong. The transaction
contemplated under the facility agreement constituted continuing
connected transaction is as defined in Chapter 14A of the Main
Board Listing Rules. However, this transaction is fully exempt
from the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Main
Board Listings Rules as the transaction was on normal
commercial terms or better and no security over the assets of the
Company is granted in respect of such financial assistance.

On 17 September 2018, the Company (as the borrower) and
Champion (as the lender), the ultimate holding company of the
Company, had entered into a loan agreement, pursuant to which
Champion agreed to lend the Company up to HK$10,000,000 in
aggregate principal amount which was unsecured, interest
bearing at 13% per annum and had no fixed term of repayment
and was repayable on demand. On 1 January 2019 the lender
had lent the Company HK$3,500,000. As at 30 June 2020,
included in amount due to ultimate holding company was a loan
of HK$6,438,000 (2019: HK$2,688,000) due to Champion was
unsecured, interest bearing at 13% per annum and had no fixed
term of repayment and was repayable on demand. The financial
assistance received constituted continuing connected transaction
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listing Rules.
However, this transaction is fully exempt from the disclosure
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listing Rules as
the transaction was on normal commercial terms or better and
no security over the assets of the Company was granted in
respect of such financial assistance.

At as 30 June 2020, included in amount due to ultimate holding
company was an amount of HK$2,123,000 (2019: HK$328,000)
due to Champion was unsecured, interest-free and had no fixed
term of repayment and was repayable on demand. The financial
assistance received constituted continuing connected transaction
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listing Rules.
However, this transaction is fully exempt from the disclosure
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listing Rules as
the transaction was on normal commercial terms or better and
no security over the assets of the Company was granted in
respect of such financial assistance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

—ZE-FTF;NA=+H 30JUNE 2020

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 34. & 2 B B &4 R &

OF THE COMPANY

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FHET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries =N B 57,429 56,859
Interests in subsidiaries NN ek 5,166 5,576
62,595 62,435
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables JFE WS L i BR 5K 158 180
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries B EY NG R 80 415
Cash and cash equivalents B MIREeE5 3,884 91
4,122 686
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables JE A~ i BR 5K 12,632 9,267
Amounts due to subsidiaries RN NGIE @ 3,992 4,388
Amount due to a director B —%EEHIE 2,180 4,180
Amount due to ultimate holding company & {f & £ 4% I8 A &) 89 ;I8 8,340 3,016
27,144 20,851
Net current liabilities REBEE (23,022) (20,165)
Net assets EEFE 39,573 42,270
Capital and reserves BRAEARFEE
Share capital & AR 21,704 19,731
Reserves (note) o 18 (Bt 1) 17,869 22,539
Total equity EEEE 39,573 42,270

RRBZHBEMRARER T _FFAh
AZ+thEBERESFSHERTENE
THTHEEREEFE

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 September 2020
and are signed on its behalf by:

WONG MAN WINNY LIU KA LIM
= BEER
Chairperson Director
FE EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

—E-TF,A=F+H 30 JUNE 2020

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 34. Zx A 3] Bt #& 48 57 & &)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: Movements of the Company’s reserves during the current and prior years are e RAGIRAEERBEEE  BEBESEHN
as follows: T
Share Capital Special Accumulated
premium reserve reserve loss Total
ROBE EAXARE BHHEE 2 BR At
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FHET FET FHET
At 1 July 2018 RZZE—NFtHA—H 795,357 966,807 195,874 (1,909,476) 48,562
Loss and total comprehensive AFEEEEREZEMZ B
expense for the year - - - (26,023) (26,023)
At 30 June 2019 and 1 July 2019 RZZE—-NFRA=THE
—E-NFtA—H 795,357 966,807 195,874 (1,935,499) 22,539
Loss and total comprehensive AFEEHEREEM AR
expense for the year - - - (8,630) (8,630)
Issuance of new shares upon placing fit & i% {7 B 3% 17 37 A%
of shares less transaction costs W22 5 B AR 3,960 - - - 3,960
At 30 June 2020 R-—ZBE-ZTHFEXA=+AH 799,317 966,807 195,874 (1,944,129) 17,869
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35. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 30 June 2020 and 30 June

2019 are as follows:

5. MEBELARBRE

RZEZZE

FRAZTHRERZZ—N%F

NA=Z1+B ARBEMERARZFHE

mT
Place of Nominal value of issued Proportion of nominal value
incorporation/ share capital/ of issued share capital held
Name of subsidiaries operations registered capital by the Company Principal activities
HEARERE AR i B ERTRAEE HEMREX ARBRECRTRAEERS FEXH
2020 2019 2020 2019
—Z-Z2F —E-NF g g 3:3 —E-NF
Aspire Management Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
EEUBAREE US$2,636,320  US$2,636,320 BEER
ZER LiEk
2,636,320% T  2,636,320% T
Bingo Profits Limited* British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EBLRRHS EER1IER T@ki1ET REER
Culture Landmark Investment Limited* BVI Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Inactive
XL BEREERA A" EBBEBARES US$1,000 Us$1,000 TEE
EBR EiEk
1,000 7T 1,000E 7T
Eight Converge Limited* Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Inactive
NEFRBR A" EEDHE LZERIER E@R1ET R
Financial Vantage Limited* Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100% Inactive
EEGDHES ZERIET LE@R1ET R
Golden Opportunity Limited* Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100% Inactive
ERERDA" EEGDHE ZERIERT L@Ri1ET EEEH
Infopage Limited UK Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Inactive
HE £1,000 £1,000 TEEK
ZER gl
1,000 2 1,000 5 £
Multitone (UK) Limited (Formerly known as UK Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
Kantone (UK) Limited) (Note 3) (Ff{E3) % £5,500,000 £5,500,000 BEER
ZER Rl
5,500,000 8 5,500,000 £
Kantone Energy Trading Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment Holding
ERARRESIERLDE 0 HK$10,000 HK$10,000 RE R
ZER TiEk
10,0007 7T 10,0008 7T
Kantone Logistics Management Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Investment Holding
ERYRERERADA EE LTER1ET E@k1ET RE 2K
Keen Pacific Limited* Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100% Inactive
EEGEE EERIER LE@ki1ET EEXK

EEEEARAE —B-F2FEFR
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—E-TF,A=F+H 30 JUNE 2020

35. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 35. [t B A 7] & E @)

Place of Nominal value of issued Proportion of nominal value
incorporation/ share capital/ of issued share capital held
Name of subsidiaries operations registered capital by the Company Principal activities
HEARERE MR/ Een® EBRTRIEE/HMBELR ARRAEGERTRAEELS FEXK
2020 2019 2020 2019
SE-EF  —T-hF  ZBS®F TN
Kontone Development Limited* Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2  Ordinary HK$2 100% 100% Inactive
BRERERAR" EE ZER2ET L@koET EEEH
M.C. Holdings Limited* Cayman Islands Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
HERS £5,500,002 £5,500,002 REZR
EER EAR

5,500,002 5,500,002 % %

Multitone Communications Limited UK Ordinary £100 Ordinary £100 100% 100%  Investment Holding
Bl EERI00HESE Li@R100E 5 REER
Multitone Scottish Limited Partnership UK Ordinary £100 Ordinary £100 21.64% 21.64%  To hold property and other
HE LER1005EE THA100E 8 assets to be acquired by
the Limited Partnership
HAERRMERABEENY
BHWHEMEMEE
Multitone Communication Systems UK Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Inactive
Limited B £25,000 £25,000 BEXR
EBR Eidk

25,000 % £ 25,0005 %

Multitone Rentals Limited UK Ordinary £100 Ordinary £100 100% 100%  Inactive
HE EERI00HE L @I1005E 5 EEXH
Multitone Electronics PLC UK Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding, design
i £3,830,107 £3,830,107 and manufacture of
ZER LiEk communication systems
3,830,107 $ 3,830,107 H & and equipment
REBR R REE
BlERFERRE
Multitone General Partner Limited UK Ordinary £100 Ordinary £100 100% 100%  Investment Holding
HE EERI00HEE Li@A100E 5 REEK
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—ZE-FTF;NA=+H 30JUNE 2020

35. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 35. ffi B A 7] & E @)

Place of Nominal value of issued Proportion of nominal value
incorporation/ share capital/ of issued share capital held
Name of subsidiaries operations registered capital by the Company Principal activities
HEARERE HMRY/EEnd ERTRAEE/ZMER ARBARECRTRAEERS FEXH
2020 2019 2020 2019
SE-EF  —T-hF  ZBZBF TN
Multitone Electronics Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Manufacture of
Ly i MR285,000 MR285,000 communication systems
LER LAk and equipment
285,000 285,000 EEREZRRLR

BREZSE HRATSHE

Multitone Retirement Benefits UK Ordinary £1 Ordinary £1 100% 100%  Investment Holding
Plan Trsutee Limited HE LER R Lk R HEER
Multiton Elektronik GmbH Germany Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Distribution of communication
1= €1,022,584 €1,022,584 systems and equipment
ZER TiERk DEBERGERR

1,022,584t 1,022,584 BT

Paging Systems Limited UK Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Inactive
HE £1,100,100 £1,100,100 EmER
EBER LAk

1,100,100 & 1,100,100 &%

Pearl Delta Inc.* Samoa/Macau Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100% Inactive
BEEGES/RM BBRIZT ERRIET BEEH
Shenzhen Hengyu Science and PRC Registered Registered 100% 100%  Investment holding
Technology Company Limited B capital capital REER
(Note 1)* RMB24,000,000 RMB24,000,000
BEMZORINBRDR (1) EZMERARY AMERARYE
24,000,000 70 24,000,0007C
Silverstrand Investments Limited* Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EEGES EER1ZT  EERIER REER
Abundant Success Trading (Macao Macau Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Provision of consulting
Commercial) Limited (Formerly known %P9 MOP100,000 MOP100,000 services, research and
as Success (Macao Commercial ZER gl development, and trading
Offshore) Limited) (Note 2) WA RP of cultural products
Kt E S (EPIEE) —ABRAF 100,000 7 100,0007C RUEBERRSE FER
(RITER Y CRPIBE R X R HBEUAREEXLER
BRAR) (MEE2)
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35. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

35. [t B A 7] & E @)

Place of Nominal value of issued Proportion of nominal value
incorporation/ share capital/ of issued share capital held
Name of subsidiaries operations registered capital by the Company Principal activities
HEARERE AR/ EEnd ERTRAEE/ZMER ARAELEERTRAEELE FEXH
2020 2019 2020 2019
—Z-EF —E-NF —Z-ZF —E-NEF
Wollaston Limited* Samoa/Macau Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEEDHES/ M BEBRIZT ERKIET REEK
Zonal Care Incorporated” British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$2 Ordinary US$2 100% 100% Inactive
Macau ZER2ET T@koxr EmE
ERGEBRES/
RF
Sky Sign Holdings Limited* BVI Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment Holding
REERERA R EBRBREE US$50,000 Us$50,000 REER
EBER BB
50,000 % 7t 50,0003 7T
Sure Beauty Investments Limited* BVI Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment Holding
EEHEERAR" HBEBRES US$50,000 US$50,000 REERK
EER gl
50,000 % 7t 50,000 7T
Notes: BsE
1 Wholly foreign owned enterprise for a term of 20 years commencing from 17 1 INEBERE  FHA-ZZ=F+A+
October 2003. tHEHZTF-
2 The Company has been changed the name to Abundant Success Trading (Macao 2 ZARBEBZE-NFLATHEHEEXRSA

Commercial) Limited with effective on 15 July 2019.

3 The Company has been changed the name to Multitone (UK) Limited with
effective on 23 December 2019.

* Directly held by the Company.

For identification purpose only

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which affected
the results of the year or constituted a substantial portion of the net

assets of the Group.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at 30 June
2020 and 30 June 2019 or at any time during the year.
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MBEE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

RESULTS E 4
Year ended 30 June
BEANA=THLEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ZB-BF —_T-NF ZE-NF ZE—+F ZET—RF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FAT FAT FAET FAET
Revenue I &= 146,944 143,966 136,743 140,854 2,090,426
Profit/(loss) from ordinary BRBiAT A B %%
activities before taxation 3% %l (#518)
Profit/(loss) from operating Rt EHEMIEEERB
activities excluding other S
operating items wm AL (&) 1,110 1,793  (1,644,601)  (1,741,525) 615,855
Other operating items H & E g - - - (14,650) (633,604)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BR %A% K, (& #E) 1,110 1,793 (1,644,601)  (1,756,175) (17,749)
Income tax credit/(expense) FRSFIE R, (X H) 2,765 644 713 (409) -
Profit/(loss) for the year TEERN(EA) 3,875 2,437 (1,643,888  (1,756,580) (17,749)
Attributable to: FEAG -
Owners of the Company RATHEE A 3,875 2,437 (1,643,888) (1,756,580 (11,764)
Non-controlling interests FE 70 A% A% R 2 - - - - (6,985)
3,875 2,437 (1,643,888) (1,756,580) (17,749)
Dividends & 2 = - - - -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY (Continued)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EERAE

At 30 June
RARA=1+AH

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

ZB-®F —_T-NF ZE-N\F ZE—+F ZZET—RF

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000

TET FAET FAT FET FET

Total assets BERE 186,243 162,438 158,529 1,801,716 3,561,067

Total liabilities BEHER 133,422 94,980 87,615 124,519 127,270

Shareholders’ funds BRES 52,821 67,458 70,914 1,677,197 3,433,797
Equity attributable to owners K2 &l A A Bk

of the Company s 52,821 67,458 70,914 1,677,197 3,433,797

Non-controlling interests FEIE AR IR RE S = — _ _ _

52,821 67,458 70,914 1,677,197 3,433,797
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